MINISTÉRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO



UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL RURAL DE PERNAMBUCO UNIVERSIDADE REGIONAL DO CARIRI UNIVERSIDADE ESTADUAL DA PARAÍBA UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE PERNAMBUCO PROGRAMA DE PÓS- GRADUAÇÃO EM ETNOBIOLOGIA E CONSERVAÇÃO DA NATUREZA -PPGETNO

THIAGO PEREIRA GUERRA

DINÂMICA POPULACIONAL DE DUAS ESPÉCIES DE PEIXE-AGULHA, Hyporhamphus unifasciatus E Hemiramphus brasiliensis: UMA ABORDAGEM ETNOECOLÓGICA

Recife-PE, 2022

THIAGO PEREIRA GUERRA

DINÂMICA POPULACIONAL DE DUAS ESPÉCIES DE PEIXE-AGULHA, Hyporhamphus unifasciatus E Hemiramphus brasiliensis: UMA ABORDAGEM ETNOECOLÓGICA

Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação de Etnobiologia e Conservação da Natureza da Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco (UFRPE, UEPB, URCA e UFP), como parte dos requisitos para a obtenção do título de doutor.

Orientadora: Priscila Fabiana Macedo Lopes Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte

Coorientadora: Josiene Maria Falcão Fraga dos Santos Universidade Estadual de Alagoas

AGRADECIMENTOS

Agradeço a todos e todas que de alguma forma participaram, colaboraram, ajudaram, me guiaram, me ensinaram, me apoiaram, me escutaram, me compreenderam e me aguentaram para que enfim, eu pudesse concluir esse ciclo, em especial minha orientadora, Priscila, minha coorientadora Josiene, minha esposa Juliana, minhas filhas Beatriz e Manuela e meus pais Fernando e Cristina. Muitíssimo obrigado!

SUMÁRIO

	RESUMO
	ABSTRACT
1.	INTRODUÇÃO GERAL07
1.1.	OBJETIVOS E QUESTIONAMENTOS07
1.2.	ESTRATÉGIAS DE PESQUISA09
1.3.	ESTRUTURA DA TESE
2.	CAPÍTULO I: FUNDAMENTAÇÃO TEÓRICA (Opinion Peace)12
3.	CAPÍTULO II: Damage or benefit? How future scenarios of climate change may affect
	the distribution of small pelagic fishes in the coastal seas of the Americas18
4.	CAPÍTULO III: Local ecological knowledge and the importance of historical rescue: a
	case study of artisanal fishers's perception of variations in the availability of halfbeak in
	northeastern Brazil
	Introduction
	Methods
	Results
	Discussion
	References
5.	ORÇAMENTO
6.	REFERÊNCIAS
Ane	exos (Capítulo II)

Guerra, Thiago Pereira; Dr.; Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco; Fevereiro, 2021; DINÂMICA POPULACIONAL DE DUAS ESPÉCIES DE PEIXE-AGULHA, *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* E *Hemiramphus brasiliensis*: UMA ABORDAGEM ETNOECOLÓGICA.

RESUMO

O declínio da disponibilidade de peixes, como consequência de mudanças ambientais antrópicas, tais como mudanças climáticas, e sobrepesca, pode afetar a renda econômica de pescadores artesanais. Devido às mudanças climáticas, os organismos são forçados a migrar ou se adaptar a novos climas e, se não o fizerem, correm o risco de declinar e extinguirse. Sabe-se que as populações pesqueiras locais, por utilizarem e conhecerem os recursos do ambiente, acumulam conhecimentos sobre as mudanças e processos ambientais e podem perceber a diminuição da abundância de recursos e auxiliar na detecção das possíveis alterações da disponibilidade das espécies. Neste contexto, esta tese objetivou investigar dois aspectos complementares a respeito de duas espécies de agulhinhas, Hyporhamphus *unifasciatus* (agulhinha branca) e *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* (agulhinha preta), dois pequenos pelágicos de relativo interesse pesqueiro e de alta relevância na cadeia trófica. O primeiro destes aspectos investigou como as alterações ambientais ocasionadas por ações antrópicas nas águas costeiras afetarão a distribuição e oferta das espécies de agulhinhas nas Américas nos próximos 30 e 70 anos? O segundo aspecto investigou se é possível fazer um resgate histórico da oferta destes recursos a partir da percepção dos pescadores locais. Utilizando Modelos Bayesianos de Distribuição de Espécies (B-SDMs), identificamos que ambas as espécies são mais provavelmente encontradas em águas rasas, quentes e salgadas. A previsão do modelo sugere que as duas espécies provavelmente se beneficiarão das mudanças climáticas, com potencial aumento em sua área de ocorrência nas regiões costeiras das Américas, especialmente devido ao aumento da temperatura e aumento da salinidade, desde que encontrem habitat favorável para tal. Para o segundo questionamento, realizamos 18 entrevistas semiestruturadas com pescadores especialistas selecionados com a técnica bola de neve em três localidades no litoral para obter informações sobre possíveis mudanças na abundância das populações com o passar dos anos. Compilamos ainda dados de reconstrução das capturas das duas espécies de 1950 a 2010. Para verificar se a curva de variação na captura oficial correspondia a curva de variação, de acordo com a percepção dos especialistas nesta pesca, selecionamos os anos citados por eles como sendo os melhores. Na percepção dos pescadores, foi identificada variação na disponibilidade das espécies e redução na quantidade capturada, embora as análises indicaram não haver diferença na percepção sobre a disponibilidade e que não houve mudança na quantidade disponível dessa espécie em suas zonas de pesca.

Palavras Chave: *Hemiramphus brasiliensis; Hyporhamphus unifasciatus;* Mudanças climáticas; pescadores artesanais; conhecimento ecológico local.

Guerra, Thiago Pereira; Dr.; Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco; Fevereiro, 2021; DINÂMICA POPULACIONAL DE DUAS ESPÉCIES DE PEIXE-AGULHA, *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* E *Hemiramphus brasiliensis*: UMA ABORDAGEM ETNOECOLÓGICA.

ABSTRACT:

The decline in the availability of fish, as a consequence of anthropic environmental changes, such as climate change, and overfishing, can affect the economic income of artisanal fishermen. Due to climate change, organisms are forced to migrate or adapt to new climates and, if they do not, they risk to decline and become extinct. It is known that local fishing populations, by using and knowing the resources of the environment, accumulate knowledge about changes and environmental processes and can perceive the decrease in the abundance of resources and assist in the detection of possible changes in the availability of species. In this context, this thesis aimed to investigate two complementary aspects regarding two species of needles, Hyporhamphus unifasciatus (white needles) and Hemiramphus brasiliensis (black needles), two small pelagics of relative fishing interest and of high relevance in the trophic chain. The first of these aspects investigated how the environmental changes caused by anthropic actions in coastal waters will affect the distribution and supply of needle species in the Americas over the next 30 and 70 years? The second aspect investigated whether it is possible to make a historical rescue of the supply of these resources from the perception of local fishermen. Using Bayesian Species Distribution Models (B-SDMs), we identified that both species are more likely to be found in shallow, warm and salty waters. The model's prediction suggests that both species are likely to benefit from climate change, with a potential increase in their area of occurrence in the coastal regions of the Americas, especially due to the increase in temperature and the increase in salinity, provided they find favorable habitat for this. For the second question, we conducted 18 semi-structured interviews with specialist fishermen selected with the snowball technique in three locations on the coast to obtain information about possible changes in the abundance of populations over the years. We also compiled data on the reconstruction of the catches of the two species from 1950 to 2010. To check whether the variation curve in the official catch corresponded to the variation curve, according to the perception of experts in this fishery, we selected the years cited by them as being the best. In the perception of fishermen, variation in the availability of species and reduction in the quantity caught was identified, although the analyzes indicated that there was no difference in the perception of availability and that there was no change in the available quantity of this species in their fishing zones.

Keywords: *Hemiramphus brasiliensis; Hyporhamphus unifasciatus;* climate changes; artisanal fishers; fishers' ecological knowledge.

1. INTRODUÇÃO GERAL

1.1 Objetivos e Questionamentos

Em conversas acadêmicas no Departamento de Pesca da UFRPE, descobri que as duas espécies de agulhinhas, *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus*, branca e *Hemiramphus brasiliensis*, preta, vinham desaparecendo das águas costeiras do estado de Pernambuco. As agulhinhas, como são popularmente conhecidas, são peixes de grande relevância cultural e gastronômica no estado, sendo largamente comercializados há décadas.

O interesse no assunto me fez buscar na literatura informações sobre a ecologia e etnobiologia dessas espécies em escala global, obtendo dados e informações sobre a dinâmica populacional, reprodução, alimentação e alterações morfológicas, todos moldados pelas alterações ambientais ocasionadas por ação antrópica. Segundo os estudos analisados, foi possível perceber que a alteração das características da água (temperatura, turbidez, pH, salinidade) e presença de poluentes dissolvidos, além da pressão de pesca, são os fatores chave na dinâmica dessas espécies (ALVES, 2000; LAEGDSGAARD; JOHNSON, 2001; ADAMS; EBERSOLE, 2002; MAGALHÃES; ALVES, 2002; PEREIRA et al., 2010).

Nenhuma publicação compilou as informações da distribuição das espécies e como os fatores ambientais alterados por ações antrópicas podem influenciar sua distribuição. Da mesma forma, não estão compiladas informações sobre alteração da oferta desse recurso em locais em que as espécies apresentam importância na alimentação da população humana local, através da pesca artesanal como ocorre em Pernambuco.

Contudo, há evidências de que a pressão de pesca das agulhinhas resultou em declínio significativo destas populações no estado de Pernambuco. Somente entre 2003 e 2005, estima-se que a produção pesqueira de agulhinhas sofreu uma queda de 50%, embora a produção pesqueira total do estado tenha duplicado (MONTEIRO, 2003; FUNDAÇÃO PROZEE, 2006). Estes peixes têm seu ciclo de vida fortemente relacionado a fanerógamas marinhas, conhecidas popularmente por capim-agulha (*Halodule wrightii*). Segundo Magalhães (2002), grandes quantidades dessas fanerógamas marinhas foram retiradas de Itamaracá para a alimentação de peixes-boi do Centro de Mamíferos Aquáticos do IBAMA durante vários anos, sem nenhum controle. As consequências desta extração descontrolada de fanerógamas nos estoques de agulhinhas já eram notadas pelos pescadores da região (ALVES, 2000).

O declínio da disponibilidade de peixes, por quaisquer razões, pode afetar a renda econômica de pescadores artesanais (BAFFOUR-AWUAH, 2014). As populações locais, ao utilizarem e conhecerem os recursos do ambiente em que vivem ao longo de sua história, acumulam conhecimentos sobre as mudanças e processos ambientais (BELL, 2001; SILVANO; BEGOSSI, 2009). Sendo assim, os pescadores artesanais podem perceber a diminuição da abundância de recursos (DAW et al., 2011) e auxiliar na detecção das possíveis alterações da disponibilidade das espécies no meio ambiente (COLEY et al., 1999; BALÉE, 2006; BEGOSSI et al., 2011).

A partir dessas informações e inquietações esta tese pretende alcançar os seguintes objetivos: 1. Considerando as alterações ambientais ocasionadas nas águas costeiras por ações antrópicas, saber como se dará a distribuição e oferta das espécies de agulhinhas preta e branca nas Américas; 2. Detectar possíveis alterações na disponibilidade de espécies costeiras através do conhecimento ecológico local; 3. Fazer uma reconstrução histórica da oferta das agulhinhas a partir da percepção dos pescadores locais.

Espero apresentar os cenários futuros da distribuição de *H. unifasciatus* e *H. brasiliensis* na costa das Américas considerando os dados do Painel Intergovernamental sobre Mudanças Climáticas (IPCC). Com isto, espero atualizar os conhecimentos sobre a dinâmica das populações dessas duas espécies de zonas costeiras sob intensa pressão pesqueira e influência antrópica, possibilitando compreender a ação da pesca ao longo do tempo e sua potencial distribuição. Além disso, pretendo trazer informações de especialistas na pesca de *H. unifasciatus* e *H. brasiliensis* sobre a disponibilidade local e possíveis mudanças temporais na abundância, com base em suas percepções.

Estes dados podem sustentar a proposta de ações que possam ser utilizadas na recuperação das capturas obtidas na zona costeira, através da participação da população pesqueira, especialista na captura destas espécies, como provedora de informações biológicas e ecológicas do local do estudo. Essas ações estarão voltadas para o desenvolvimento local e a gestão participativa dos recursos naturais, uma vez que a redução da produção pesqueira de *H. unifasciatus* e *H. brasiliensis* é um problema para a conservação da biodiversidade, as atividades econômicas das populações humanas que vivem da pesca, e a manutenção do consumo dessas espécies.

Assim, os resultados desta tese podem fornecer subsídios para o manejo e direcionar a gestão pesqueira destes recursos, dos quais o ser humano é tanto dependente quanto agente importante nesse processo. Sem dúvida, é um grande desafio aliar a conservação de espécies sob alguma ameaça com os interesses econômicos e outras demandas de uso por parte de populações locais.

1.2. Estratégias de Pesquisa

No segundo capítulo buscamos investigar as mudanças na distribuição das espécies frente aos cenários futuros de mudanças climáticas nos anos de 2050 e 2100, em cenários otimista e pessimista de emissão de carbono. Também avaliamos as respostas das espécies quanto ao tamanho de sua área de distribuição, evidenciando expansão ou retração também para os anos de 2050 e 2100. Para isso aplicamos Modelos de Distribuição de Espécies (SDMs) para avaliar os impactos sobre a biodiversidade ou serviços ecossistêmicos e as prováveis respostas de espécies às mudanças climáticas (CHEUNG et al., 2010). Os Modelos de Distribuição de Espécies (SDMs) são amplamente utilizados em ambientes terrestres, e aquáticos para identificar as relações espécie-ambiente e prever a ocorrência e/ou densidade de espécies em locais não amostrados (FONSECA et al., 2017).

Para prever a distribuição atual e futura de *H. brasiliensis* e *H. unifasciatus* ao longo da costa das Américas (local ao qual a maior parte das espécies estudadas se restringe) utilizamos dados de duas fontes: 1) levantamento bibliográfico e 2) bancos de dados online (Aquamaps, Gbif e Species Link) que possuem informações sobre presença das espécies. Realizamos uma revisão bibliográfica exaustiva de pesquisas anteriores sobre ocorrências de *H. brasiliensis* e *H. unifasciatus* georreferenciadas em todas as águas das Américas. Os estudos que identificamos foram, em sua maioria, amostragens científicas que registraram a presença das espécies em um determinado local, por meio de métodos como os transectos, em que o pesquisador amostrou várias áreas próximas umas das outras. Para esses casos, elencamos aleatoriamente um dos locais amostrados e atribuímos a presença (ou ausência) das espécies a ele. Para garantir que estaríamos incluindo todas as informações disponíveis, extraímos dados de presença de bancos de dados online (KASCHNER et al., 2013) e excluímos observações duplicadas.

Consideramos quatro variáveis abióticas como potenciais preditoras da distribuição de *H. brasiliensis* e *H. unifasciatus*: temperatura da superfície do mar (SST em °C), salinidade da superfície do mar (SSS em PSU), profundidade (em metros) e rugosidade do fundo do mar; e uma variável biótica: produtividade primária líquida (NPP em mg Cm-2 d- 1).

Tomamos cuidado para assegurar que a resolução espacial (1° x 1°) fosse a mesma para cada preditor ambiental, uma vez que foram extraídos de diferentes fontes. Todas as variáveis ambientais foram padronizadas para reduzir a correlação entre os coeficientes do modelo e para permitir a comparação dos pesos relativos entre as variáveis (KINAS e ANDRADE, 2014).

Além disso, utilizamos modelos espaciais para verificar cenários futuros para os anos de

2050 e 2100, através de diferentes predições extraídas do Painel Intergovernamental sobre Mudanças Climáticas a partir do banco de dados BioOracle (http://www.biooracle.org) com resolução espacial de 1° x 1°.

Utilizando o modelo bayesiano de iCAR estimamos a probabilidade de ocorrência de *H. brasiliensis* e *H. unifasciatus*, o qual leva em consideração uma possível autocorrelação espacial nos dados (LATIMER et al., 2006) e diferentes fontes de incertezas. Utilizamos um modelo autorregressivo condicional intrínseco de Gauss (iCAR) (BESAG, 1974) para autocorrelação espacial entre observações, pressupondo que a probabilidade de presença de espécies em um local depende da probabilidade de presença das espécies em locais vizinhos.

Para cada previsão, validamos o melhor modelo selecionado usando uma validação cruzada interna de 10 vezes baseada em conjuntos de dados de treinamento e teste selecionados aleatoriamente (criados por uma seleção aleatória de 75% e 25% dos dados respectivamente) (FIELDING e BELL, 1997), com o pacote "PresenceAbsence" em R (FREEMAN e MOISEN, 2008).

Desta forma, acreditamos ter encontrado um método facilmente replicável para avaliar se mudanças climáticas podem ter efeito positivo ou negativo na distribuição de espécies no futuro.

No segundo artigo buscamos investigar se na percepção dos pescadores especialistas na captura de *H. brasiliensis* e *H. unifasciatus* houve variação temporal na disponibilidade dessas espécies e se o tempo de experiência do pescador na atividade poderia afetar essa percepção. Além disso, a percepção quanto à variação na oferta das duas espécies deste estudo foram comparadas com a variação dos dados oficiais. Para isso, apenas os pescadores especialistas na pesca de *H. brasiliensis* e *H. unifasciatus* em três trechos do litoral de Pernambuco foram convidados a participarem. Estes especialistas responderam questões sobre idade, tempo de experiência na pesca, se essa correspondia a sua única atividade com rendimento financeiro, se houve mudanças na estratégia da pesca ao longo do tempo, se houve mudança de local de pesca, se percebeu mudança na quantidade de peixes pescados dessas espécies ou no tamanho dos que são capturados, os anos de melhores e piores capturas, entre outras. A seleção dos especialistas e destas perguntas nos permitiram fazer um diagnóstico sobre a situação da pesca das agulhinhas percebida pelos pescadores e alguns aspectos da resiliência do sistema socioecológico (HIND, 2014), além de considerar um possível efeito relacionado à mudança na linha de base (SÁENZ–ARROYO et al., 2005).

Já os dados oficiais de captura foram extraídos do banco de dados disponibilizados na plataforma *Sea around us*. Os dados para o Brasil foram reconstruídos a partir de dados oficiais da captura oficial de *H. brasiliensis* e *H. unifasciatus* para o período entre 1950 a

2010 em alguns estados do Brasil (FREIRE et al., 2014). Fizemos o recorte dos dados para Pernambuco e para verificar se a curva de variação na captura oficial correspondia à curva de variação, de acordo com a percepção dos especialistas nesta pesca, selecionamos os anos citados por eles como sendo os melhores. Para este mesmo ano citado como melhor, foi perguntada também a quantidade capturada de agulhinha estimada por saída de barco. Enquanto os dados da reconstrução pesqueira trazem capturas em toneladas por ano, as informações fornecidas pelos pescadores correspondem a apenas uma saída de barco para captura e é estimada em kg. Desta forma, os dados foram comparados apenas em tendências de comportamento.

1.3. Estrutura da Tese

A presente tese está apresentada e organizada em três capítulos para responder as questões da pesquisa, sendo um de revisão literária narrativa, no formato de artigo de opinião (*opinion piece*), e dois artigos científicos. Destes, um deles já foi publicado recentemente pela revista "Fisheries Research" com o título: "Damage or benefit? How future scenarios of climate change may affect the distribution of small pelagic fishes in the coastal seas of the Americas". O texto deste capítulo específico foi organizado utilizando o método IMRAD, acrônico para Introdução, Métodos, Resultados e Discussão. O desenvolvimento do trabalho dentro de cada seção do IMRAD respondeu, sequencialmente, às perguntas principais do trabalho: (i) identificar quais características bióticas ou abióticas têm maior influência na distribuição das duas espécies de agulhinhas; e (ii) investigar mudanças distributivas, incluindo eventual expansão ou retração, dessas espécies diante de cenários futuros de mudanças climáticas (2050 e 2100, cenários otimistas e pessimistas de emissão de carbono).

O terceiro capítulo, intitulado "Conhecimento ecológico local e a importância do resgate histórico: um estudo de caso da percepção de pescadores artesanais sobre variações na disponibilidade de peixes-agulha no nordeste brasileiro" foi enviado para publicação no "Human Ecology", ISSN 0300-7839 (print); 1572-9915 (web). Também foi utilizado o método IMRAD para o desenvolvimento do texto para Introdução, Métodos, Resultados e Discussão. O desenvolvimento do trabalho dentro de cada seção do IMRAD respondeu sequencialmente às perguntas principais do trabalho: (i) na percepção dos pescadores, houve variação significativa na disponibilidade temporal da oferta de agulhinhas (brancas e pretas)?; (ii) existe variação significativa na percepção sobre a disponibilidade temporal em função do tempo de experiência do pescador?; e (iii) existe alguma relação entre a variação na disponibilidade temporal de agulhinhas (brancas e pretas), com base nos dados oficiais de captura e com base na estimativa de captura dos pescadores?

2. Capítulo I – Fundamentação Teórica – Opinion Piece

Let's not forget about small fish: a call for halfbeaks

Marine ecosystems are permanently regulated by a range of biotic and abiotic factors. Among several regulators, there are small pelagic fish, which due to their significant biomass at intermediate levels of the food chain (Palomera et al. 2007; Fauchald et al. 2011), play an important role in connecting the lower and upper trophic levels (Cury et al. 2000; Taylor et al. 2008; Brochier et al. 2011). According to the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), these fish represent 25% of the world landings (in tonnes), of which anchovies, sardinella, sardines, mackerel and herring are the most commonly caught due to their commercial importance as food and animal feed (FAO 2018). However, some other small pelagic fish may go accounted for in the main fishing statistics throughout the world (Takasuka 2018), mostly due to their low economic value. This is often the case of halfbeaks.

Halfbeaks are small pelagic fish of the family Hemiramphidae caught in coastal waters of several countries in the Atlantic, Indian and Pacific (Hughes and Stewart 2006). They measure between 15-30 cm (standard length: from tip of upper jaw to base of caudal fin) and are usually found close to the surface, forming small schools (Sokolovsky and Sokolovskaya 1999; Trnski et al. 2000; Monteiro et al. 2004). Like most small pelagic fish, halfbeaks have a fast initial growth, reaching their maximum size in a short period of time, being considered species of low to medium longevity (McBride and Thurman 2003; Stewart and Hughes 2007).

Despite their low commercial value, these species play an important role in human nutrition, contributing to the food security of coastal communities, especially fishing communities, which tend to be socioeconomically more vulnerable (Lessa and Nóbrega 2000; Pereira et al. 2010; Fernandes 2011). The fishing of these species is mainly artisanal and, although most of the fish caught will be consumed by the fishers' families themselves, some communities trade part of their halfbeak catches locally, especially where these fish are part of the local gastronomic tradition (Fernandes 2011).

Halfbeaks are also an important ecological link in the oceanic pelagic food chain, serving as important prey to large marine predators of high commercial value, such as tunas and sailfish (Pires 1997). Halfbeaks are also used as bait in the commercial and sport fisheries of tuna and tuna-like species (Nelson 2006).

Growing anthropogenic impacts in tropical coastal zones, which are often subjected to high demographic density, unplanned tourism and intense fishing exploitation (Ouyang et al. 2018; Bolívar et al. 2019), have compromised the dynamics of halfbeak populations. For example, significant changes have already been observed in their reproductive success (McBride and Thurman 2003; Hughes and Stewart 2006; Oliveira and Chellappa 2014), in their feeding behavior (Collette 2002; Vasconcelos Filho et al. 2009) and in their mortality rate (Oliveira and Chellappa 2014). Coastal land-use changes for real estate speculation and aquaculture, for example, lead to habitat change (Ouyang et al. 2018; Bolívar et al. 2019) and loss of seagrass prairies (*Halodule wrightii*) used by halfbeaks as food and shelter (Berkeley and Houde 1978; Sokolovsky and Sokolovskaya 1999; Noell 2003). Seagrass can also be harmed by some fishing practices (Cullen-Unsworth et al. 2018).

Halfbeaks are also subjected to global anthropogenic impacts caused by climate change. According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), global warming is expected to exceed 2° C by 2100 (IPCC 2018), with various impacts, mostly negative, expected to affect life on Earth, including that in the oceans. It is assumed that pelagic fish will undergo significant changes in their distribution because the superficial layers of the ocean are already suffering higher rates of change (Cheung et al. 2012). For halfbeaks these changes are not necessarily bleak nor are they simple. A study carried out with two species of halfbeaks, *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* and *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus*, suggests that these fish could actually increase their distribution in the Americas by the year 2100, even under the most pessimistic scenarios (RCP 2.6 and RCP 8.5). This could happen due to the high tolerance these species have to warmer temperatures and, consequently, increased salinity (Guerra et al. 2021). However, an increased distribution would only be possible if the species that are key for halfbeaks life histories, as the ones forming the prairies where they feed, court and shelter (e.g., Halodule wrightii) also expand. The future distribution of these prairieforming species has not been modeled to date, but their expansion seems unlikely due to their high sensitivity to coastal changes (Waycott et al. 2009; Sunny 2017).

Although halfbeaks are key both in the food webs of highly sought fish species and in the food security of several traditional and often impoverished communities worldwide, they do not get enough scientific attention. The vast majority of studies on halfbeaks concern their co-occurrence in specific habitats with other small pelagics, their reproductive characteristics and feeding, with few or no studies attempting to better understand their ecological functional (Villéger et al. 2017), socioeconomic (Thiault et al. 2017; Alheit and Peck 2019) and even cultural role (Freitas et al. 2020). In the absence of baseline knowledge, their proper management is compromised. In fact, the management of less economically relevant fish species is a global problem (Pikitch et al. 2014), which include many small pelagic (FAO 2020). Instead of adopting a precautionary management approach, which is recommended for when knowledge is far from complete (Lopes et al. 2018), governments and management bodies overlook halfbeaks. In an emblematic case in the Brazilian northeastern coast, fishermen reported that the halfbeak *H. brasiliensis* practically disappeared in the 1980s and 1990s. According to the fishermen, this happened when the prairies of seagrass started being intensively harvested to feed a local manatee (*Trichechus manatus*) as part of a conservation project (Projeto Peixe Boi – Manatee Project). Such an unintended negative consequence due to an otherwise highly justifiable goal (the protection of the endangered *T. manatus*) is telling. It shows, for example, the shortcomings of adopting a species management approach instead of an ecosystem approach (Skern-Mauritzen et al. 2016). Perhaps more importantly, it shows how halfbeaks, possibly with other less important small pelagic species, come last in the conception of any sort of management: halfbeaks can be treated as irrelevant species whose presence can be compromised for the greater good of more emblematic ones.

Gathering ecological and socioecological knowledge on halfbeaks and on other small pelagic species of lesser economic relevance is urgently needed for their own sake, for the sake of food webs, including those of direct interest to humans, and for the sake of vulnerable human coastal communities. While more and better knowledge is not available, precautionary ecosystem management approaches should bear in mind the relevance of the small fish.

Literature cited

- Alheit J, Peck MA (2019) Drivers of dynamics of small pelagic fish resources: Biology, management and human factors. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 617–618:1–6. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12985
- Berkeley SA, Houde D (1978) Biology of two exploited species of halfbeaks, Hemiramphus brasiliensis and H. balao from southeast Florida. Bul Mar Sci 28:624–644
- Bolívar M, Rivillas-Ospina G, Fuentes W, et al (2019) Anthropic Impact Assessment of Coastal Ecosystems in the Municipality of Puerto Colombia, NE Colombia. J Coast Res 92:112. https://doi.org/10.2112/si92-013.1
- Brochier T, Lett C, Fréon P (2011) Investigating the "northern Humboldt paradox" from model comparisons of small pelagic fish reproductive strategies in eastern boundary upwelling ecosystems. Fish Fish 12:94–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2979.2010.00385.x
- Cheung WWL, Meeuwig JJ, Feng M, et al (2012) Climate-change induced tropicalisation of marine communities in Western Australia. Mar Freshw Res 63:415–427. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF11205

Collette BB (2002) Hemiramphidae. In: Carpenter KE (ed) The living marine resources of the

Western Central Atlantic. Volume 2: Bony fishes part 1 (Acipenseridae to Grammatidae), Rome: FAO, pp 601–1374

- Cullen-Unsworth LC, Jones BL, Lilley R, Unsworth RKF (2018) Secret Gardens Under the Sea: What are Seagrass Meadows and Why are They Important? Front Young Minds 6:1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/frym.2018.00002
- Cury P, Bakun A, Crawford RJM, et al (2000) Small pelagics in upwelling systems: Patterns of interaction and structural changes in "wasp-waist" ecosystems. ICES J Mar Sci 57:603–618. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.2000.0712
- FAO (2018) The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome

FAO (2020) The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. Rome, Italy

- Fauchald P, Skov H, Skern-Mauritzen M, et al (2011) Wasp-Waist interactions in the North Sea ecosystem. PLoS One 6:. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0022729
- Fernandes CE (2011) Valor nutricional e perfil lipídico das espécies de peixes: cavala (Scomberomorus cavalla), agulha-branca (Hemiramphus brasiliensis), agulha-preta (Hyporhamphus unifasciatus) e sardinha-laje (Opisthonema oglinum). Universidade Federal de Pernambuco
- Freitas CT, Lopes PFM, Campos-Silva JV, et al (2020) Co-management of culturally important species: A tool to promote biodiversity conservation and human well-being. People Nat 2:61–81. https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.10064
- Guerra TP, Santos JMFF dos, Pennino MG, Lopes PFM (2021) Damage or benefit? How future scenarios of climate change may affect the distribution of small pelagic fishes in the coastal seas of the Americas. Fish Res 234:. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2020.105815
- Hughes JM, Stewart J (2006) Reproductive biology of three commercially important Hemiramphid species in south-eastern Australia. Environ Biol Fishes 75:237–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-006-0023-3
- IPCC (2018) Summary for Policymakers. In: Masson-Delmotte V, Zhai P, Pörtner HO, et al. (eds) Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change,. World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, p 32
- Lessa R, Nóbrega M (2000) Guia de Identificação de Peixes Marinhos da Região Nordeste. Programa Reviz - SCORE- NE 138
- Lopes PFM, Verba JT, Begossi A, Pennino MG (2018) Predicting species distribution from

fishers' local ecological knowledge: a new alternative for data-poor management. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 76:1–35. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2018-0148

- McBride RS, Thurman PE (2003) Reproductive Biology of Hemiramphus brasiliensis and H. balao (Hemiramphidae): Maturation, Spawning Frequency, and Fecundity. Biol Bull 204:57–67. https://doi.org/10.2307/1543496
- Monteiro A, Nóbrega MF, Lessa RL (2004) Hemiramphus brasiliensis. In: Lessa RL, Nóbrega MF, Bezerra-Júnior J (eds) Dinâmica de populações e Avaliação de Estoques dos Recursos Pesqueiros da Região Nordeste. REVIZEE, Recife, pp 151–161
- Nelson JA (2006) Fishes of the world, 4. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York
- Noell CJ (2003) Larval development of the southern sea garfish (Hyporhamphus melanochir) and the river garfish (H. regularis) (Beloniformes: Hemiramphidae) from South Australian waters. Fish Bull 101:368–376
- Oliveira MR De, Chellappa S (2014) Temporal dynamics of reproduction in Hemiramphus brasiliensis (Osteichthyes: Hemiramphidae). Sci World J 2014:. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/837151
- Ouyang X, Lee SY, Connolly RM, Kainz MJ (2018) Spatially-explicit valuation of coastal wetlands for cyclone mitigation in Australia and China. Sci Rep 8:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21217-z
- Palomera I, Olivar MP, Salat J, et al (2007) Small pelagic fish in the NW Mediterranean Sea: An ecological review. Prog Oceanogr 74:377–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2007.04.012
- Pereira PHC, Ferreira BP, Rezende SM (2010) Community structure of the ichthyofauna associated with seagrass beds (Halodule wrightii) in Formoso River estuary -Pernambuco, Brazil. An Acad Bras Cienc 82:617–628. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0001-37652010000300009
- Pikitch EK, Rountos KJ, Essington TE, et al (2014) The global contribution of forage fish to marine fisheries and ecosystems. Fish Fish 15:43–64. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12004
- Pires I (1997) De isca a caviar: potencial econômico dos peixes-voadores do nordeste ainda é pouco explorado. Ciência Hoje 22:67–68
- Skern-Mauritzen M, Ottersen G, Handegard NO, et al (2016) Ecosystem processes are rarely included in tactical fisheries management. Metroeconomica 67:165–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12111

Sokolovsky AS, Sokolovskaya TG (1999) Some aspects of biology of the japanese halfbeak Hyporhamphus sajori from Peter the Great Bay, Sea of Japan. J Mar Biol 25:426–430

Stewart J, Hughes JM (2007) Age validation and growth of three commercially important

hemiramphids in south-eastern Australia. J Fish Biol 70:65–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2006.01256.x

- Sunny AR (2017) A review on effect of global climate change on seaweed and seagrass. Int J Fish Aquat Stud 5:19–22
- Takasuka A (2018) Biological Mechanisms Underlying Climate Impacts on Population
 Dynamics of Small Pelagic Fish. In: Aoki I, Yamakaua T, Takasuta A (eds) Fish
 Population Dynamics, Monitoring, and Management. Fisheries Science Series. Springer,
 Tokyo
- Taylor MH, Tam J, Blaskovic V, et al (2008) Trophic modeling of the Northern Humboldt Current Ecosystem, Part II: Elucidating ecosystem dynamics from 1995 to 2004 with a focus on the impact of ENSO. Prog Oceanogr 79:366–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2008.10.008
- Thiault L, Collin A, Chlous F, et al (2017) Combining participatory and socioeconomic approaches to map fishing effort in small- scale fisheries. PLoS One 12:1–18. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176862
- Trnski T, Leis JM, Carson-Ewart BM (2000) Hemiramphidae. In: Leis JM, Carson-Ewart BM (eds) The larvae of Indo-Pacific coastal fishes: an identification guide to marine fish larvae. Faune Malesian Handbooks, 2 Brill: Leiden, pp 154–158
- Vasconcelos Filho a L, Neumann-Leitão S, Eskinazi-Leça E, Porto-Neto FF (2009) Hábitos alimentares de consumidores primários da ictiofauna do sistema estuarino de Itamaracá (Pernambuco - Brasil). Rev Bras Eng Pesca 4:21–31
- Villéger S, Brosse S, Mouchet M, et al (2017) Functional ecology of fish : current approaches and future challenges. Aquat Sci 0:0. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-017-0546-z
- Waycott M, Duarte CM, Carruthers TJB, et al (2009) Accelerating loss of seagrasses across the globe threatens coastal ecosystems. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1:12377–12381. https://doi.org/doi10.1073pnas.0905620106

3. Capítulo II. Damage or benefit? How future scenarios of climate change may affect the distribution of small pelagic fishes in the coastal seas of the Americas.

O artigo a seguir foi publicado na revista "Fisheries Research", (ISSN: 0165-7836), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2020.105815.

PDF do artigo publicado em anexo.

4. Capítulo III. Local ecological knowledge and the importance of historical rescue: a case study of artisanal fishers's perception of variations in the availability of halfbeak in northeastern Brazil

O artigo a seguir foi submetido ao Human Ecology, ISSN 0300-7839 (print); 1572-9915 (web).

← Submissions Being Processed for Author										
Page: 1 of 1 (1 total sub	Results per page	10 🗸								
Action 🕒 🔽	Manuscript Number ▲	Title 🔺	Initial Date Submitted	Status Date ▲	Current Status 🔺					
Action Links	HUEC-D-22- 00032	Local ecological knowledge and the importance of historical rescue: a case study of artisanal fishers's perception of variations in the availability of halfbeak in northeastern Brazil	31 Jan 2022	31 Jan 2022	New Submission					
Page: 1 of 1 (<u>1 total sub</u>	omissions)					Results per page	10 🗸			

Local ecological knowledge and the importance of historical rescue: a case study of artisanal fishers's perception of variations in the availability of halfbeak in northeastern Brazil

Thiago Pereira Guerra¹, Juliana Ramos de Andrade¹, Josiene Maria Falcão Fraga dos Santos², Priscila Fabiana Macedo Lopes³

¹Federal Rural University of Pernambuco, Recife, Pernambuco, Brazil

²State University of Alagoas, Biology Center, Palmeira dos Índios, Alagoas, Brazil

³Fishing Ecology Management and Economics (FEME), Federal University of Rio Grande do

Norte. Department of Ecology, Natal, Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil

Abstract

We investigated the ecological parameters of populations of halfbeak *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* and *Hemirampus brasiliensis* through the experience of artisanal fishers's off the

coast of Northeastern Brazil in association with historical catch data. Data from the official catch of *H. brasiliensis* and *H. unifasciatus* from 1950 to 2010 allowed us to verify if the variation curve in the official catch corresponded to the variation curve, according to the perception of the specialists in this fishery. Fishers perceive an especially negative variation in species availability. Although 82% of the informants reported that the availability of ballyhoo halfbeak has decreased, there is no difference in the perception of availability. Among the fishermen who catch the common halfbeak, only 33.3% reported a reduction in the amount caught. The majority (61%) indicate that there has been no change in the amount of this species available in their fishing zones. Is no significant difference in the availability of captured common halfbeak. The shorter the experience, the greater the perception of variation in the temporal availability of the ballyhoo halfbeak, which is not repeated in relation to the common halfbeak.

Keywords: artisanal fishers; fishers' ecological knowledge; historical rescue; halfbeak.

Introduction

The intense exploitation of fisheries resources around the world has significant negative consequences for marine ecosystems (Pauly et al., 2013; Valin et al., 2014), generating severe problems related to food security (Pauly et al., 2005), that intensely affects local populations due to their direct dependence on these resources. Avoiding, reversing, and mitigating the overexploitation of fisheries resources requires public policies and decision-making for sustainable fisheries management (FAO, 2011).

However, the proper management implementation faces the lack of data on fisheries and fish stocks (Costello et al., 2012). Monitoring trends in stock abundance usually requires long-term data collection programs, which are not always carried out due to adverse environmental conditions, insufficient planning, and especially the lack of economic resources (Chambers et

al., 2014; Johannes, 1998).

In the absence of long-term monitoring, the possibility of having statistical baselines that allow temporal comparisons is lost (Eddy et al., 2018.), which are essential to define good goals for the management and restoration of fish stocks (Jackson et al., 2001; Lotze & Worm, 2009; Roberts, 2003). In this context, secondary historical data, such as newspapers, and less usual sources, ranging from paintings to restaurant menus (McDowell, 2013), can help fill in knowledge gaps. One of these alternative sources shows promising results for the reconstruction of short-term statistical data, such as information provided by fishers from their memories (Pinnegar & Engelhard, 2008; Sáenz-Arroyo et al., 2006).

Still, when using the information provided by fishers, it is important to be aware of the information bias brought about by the shifting baseline syndrome (shifting baseline syndrome). In the absence of historical information or experiences, a generation takes as a reference (e.g., the moment when the resource is in its best condition) the beginning of its experience, noting as a decline or change in species composition only what happened after this one moment (Pauly, 1995). In this case, recent generational information may differ from that stored by older generations (Bruno et al., 2014);

Thus, while fostering alternative methods for data collection is essential to inform decisionmaking in fisheries in general and in small-scale fisheries in particular (Ruano-Chamorro et al., 2017), they must be used carefully. On the other hand and despite these limitations, there is undoubtedly enormous potential to use information from local memory to obtain knowledge about environmental changes and processes (Bell, 2001; Silvano & Begossi, 2009; Hind, 2014). For example, artisanal fishers may notice a decrease in resource abundance (Daw et al., 2011, Hallwass et al., 2013), in fish size (Sáenz-Arroyo et al., 2005a), changes in the landscape (Pitcher, 2001), the arrival of invasive species and species replacement (Johannes et al., 2000).

In most of the studies carried out to date, there has been a significant effort to seek

21

information about fish stocks of high commercial interest, even for small-scale fishing, such as groupers, for example (Sáenz-Arroyo et al., 2005). Species used for local consumption and of lower economic value receive less attention, as is the case of small pelagics, although there are abundant examples of the collapse of these stocks due to overfishing (Lessa et al., 2004; Fréon et al., 2005; Pikitch et al., 2018).

In Brazil, the capture of small pelagics is carried out mostly by artisanal fisheries. Although not always of high economic value, many of these small pelagics contribute to the food security of coastal communities, especially fisheries, which tend to be socioeconomically more vulnerable (Lessa & Nóbrega, 2000; Pereira et al., 2010). In addition, small pelagics, in general, play a significant role in the marine food chain, as they are important foods for high-demand species such as tuna and sailfish (Pires, 1997). Among these pelagics of socioeconomic and environmental relevance, the little halfbeak (Hemirhamphidae) stand out. These fish are coastal species that occur in shallow and meadow environments, areas extremely subject to local impacts (Oliveira & Chellappa, 2014) in several Atlantic, Indian and Pacific countries (Hughes & Stewart, 2006). *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* (ballyhoo halfbeak) and *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* (common halfbeak) are the two species of halfbeak most commonly found in Brazil and commercially exploited however, there are few studies on the economic or ecological importance of these species.

Based on these questions, we will test the hypothesis that fishers specializing in the capture of halfbeak in the Northeast of Brazil are affected by the baseline syndrome. This phenomenon promotes non-consensual information among informants of different age groups and time of life experience and between informants and official data on the variation in the capture of these species.

Methods

Sampling location

The coastal fishing area evaluated is located in the northeastern region of Brazil, in the State of Pernambuco, which is 187 km long (07° 15' 45" S and 09° 28' 18" S), along which there are 34 communities fisheries (IBAMA, 2001). According to the Koeppen classification system, this coastal region has a tropical climate of type Am'. The temperature of the region oscillates between 20°C and 34°C (Andrade & Lins, 1971), with two climatic seasons, usually quite distinct: a dry season, between September and January, with an average rainfall of less than 60 mm, followed by the rainy season between February and August, which has an average rainfall of over 60 mm (Nimer, 1979; Medeiros & Kjerfve, 1993).

Data collection was restricted to artisanal fishing since only this group captures the halfbeaks. Artisanal fishing provides the most significant part of the fishing production in the State of Pernambuco, and it is characterized by family and community work, using traditional techniques and technologies, either on foot or with the use of boats, such as: rafts, canoes, baiteras and small motorized boats size (Lira, 2010). Interviews were carried out in three locations on the coast of Pernambuco: Itamaracá, Ponta de Pedras and Jaboatão dos Guararapes, as they are places where the concentration of halfbeak is known (Lessa et al., 2006) (Figure 1). Itamaracá Island (7° 44′ 52″ S, 34° 49′ 33″ W) has a population of 21,884, which depends especially on the service sector and tourism. Ponta de Pedras (7° 33′ 38″ S, 35° 00′ 09″ W) is a district of the municipality of Goiana, with 8,008 inhabitants, formed by a small commercial area and a hotel chain, in addition to several restaurants that guarantee the economy of the city region. Jaboatão dos Guararapes (8° 06′ 46″ S, 35° 00′ 53″ W) is a municipality in the metropolitan region of Recife, with 702, 298 inhabitants, in which the service sector is also the most representative in the economy.



Figure 1. Fishing communities sampled, Ponta de Pedras, Itamaracá and Jaboatão dos Guararapes in the State of Pernambuco, Northeast region of Brazil.

Data collect

Data were collected through semi-structured interviews between May and September 2018. The questionnaire was designed to obtain information on possible changes in the abundance of populations of *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* and *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* over the years, based on the perceptions of expert fishers in the communities studied. An attempt was made to access fishers specializing in the fishing of halfbeak through the colonies of each locality however, the colonies did not have information on which and how many fishers practiced fishing for the halfbeak. Specifically, in Itamaracá, there is practically no more fishing for halfbeak, where most of the interviewees were already retired. Due to the difficulty of finding only the experts, the interviewees were selected using the snowball technique, "snowball" (Berg, 2006), which relies on references from initial subjects to generate additional topics.

The interviews followed the technical recommendations of CNS n° 466/12, of the National Health Council, which meet the ethical aspects of research involving human beings, in which the informants were introduced to the research objectives and the Free and Informed Consent Term (FICT). The research was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Pernambuco (CAAE: 73680817.0.0000.5207). Then they were invited to sign it,

authorizing their participation in the present study. All interviews were carried out individually, whenever possible in the afternoon, right after the fishers had completed their working day and gathered on the beach to socialize, in the case of active fishers. In the case of retirees, the interviews took place in their respective homes.

In all, 18 specialist fishers were interviewed in the fishing of halfbeak. Four were retired (they left fishing between eight and 20 years ago). Of the others, two alternate fishing with commercial activity, one no longer practices fishing, exercising another economic activity, and eleven still exercise fishing as their only source of income. All fishers are men aged between 33 and 75 years.

Official catch data were extracted from the Sea around Us platform, exclusively for Brazil, based on a national effort to reconstruct fisheries catches for 1950-2010 (Freire et al., 2014). We cut the data for Pernambuco, and to verify if the variation curve in the official catch corresponded to the variation curve, according to the perception of the specialists in this fishery, we selected the years cited by them as being the best. For these years, the fishers also estimated the amount per boat trip. Reconstruction data are presented as catches in ton per species per year, while fisheries data are presented as catches in kilograms per species per boat trip. Thus, as they are different units, only variations in trends between official capture data and informants' perception data were observed and described.

Results

Temporary availability of needle supply

Of the 18 fishers interviewed, five fished only ballyhoo halfbeak, three fished only common halfbeak and 10 fished both species.

In the fishers's perception, variation was identified in the availability of the species *H*. *unifasciatus* (ballyhoo halfbeak) and *H. brasiliensis* (common halfbeak) on the coast of the

25

State of Pernambuco. Among the informants who fish for ballyhoo halfbeak, about 82% reported that their availability has decreased over time. Even so, in the case of *H. unifasciatus*, this reduction is not statistically significant (Z (U) = 1.7836; p = 0.0745) (Figure 2).

The analysis showed that there is no significant difference in the availability of captured common halfbeak (Z (U) = 0.8718; p=0.3833) (Figure 2). Among the fishers who catch the common halfbeak, only 33.3% reported a reduction in the amount caught. The majority, 61%, indicate that there has been no change in the amount of this species available in their fishing zones.



Figure 2. Estimated average catch by fishers of *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* (ballyhoo halfbeak) (a) and *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* (common halfbeak) (b) for each boat trip in the past (considering the individual memory of older years, in fishing activity) and currently (considering the individual memory of the most recent years, in the fishing activity).

Variation in time availability and experience time

Considering the experience of fishers, in general, this time ranged between 18 and 45 years. The experience time was evenly distributed throughout the sample. However, regression analysis showed that the shorter the experience, the greater the perception of variation in the temporal availability of the white needle (R2 = 32%; p = 0.015) (Figure 3a). On the other hand, the experience time was not related to the variation in the perception of time available

in the case of the black needle (R2 = 2.57%; p = 0.5744) (Figure 3b).



Figure 3. Variation in fishers's perception of Hyporhamphus unifasciatus (ballyhoo halfbeak) (a) and Hemiramphus brasiliensis (common halfbeak) (b) on the time available for sailing as a function of the fisherman's experience time.

Needle capture versus official data

In the historical series between the years 1950 and 2010, two major peaks were identified in the amount of H. unifasciatus (ballyhoo halfbeak) and H. brasiliensis (common halfbeak) in the late 70's to mid 80's. However, in the fishers's report, the best years of capture were from 1995 onwards for both species. Crossing official catch data from 1995 onwards with estimated data on the amount caught by fishers on each trip, it is noted that the moving average on the perception of species availability followed the official data (Figure 4).

The official data of the historical series indicate that the common halfbeak was captured more than the ballyhoo halfbeak, which is in agreement with the fishers's estimate. There was significant variation in the estimated amount of white needle caught among fishers in their best years (p = 0.0093), ranging from 45 to 80 kg per boat trip in 2000 and 1998, respectively. All the fishers who reported this period as being the best are part of the fishing colony of Ilha de Itamaracá. The period reported by all fishermen in the Ponta de Pedras colony as being the

best in quantitative terms for white needle fishing was concentrated between the years 2013 and 2018, with estimates that varied significantly (p < 0.0001).

There was also significant variation in the estimated amount of common halfbeak caught among fishers in their best years (p < 0.0001), ranging from 150 to 520 kg per boat trip in 1999 and 2000, respectively. This period was reported only among fishers from the colony of Ilha de Itamaracá, suggesting that perhaps some spatial factor may have interfered with more abundant catches in more recent years, as fishers from the colonies located in Jaboatão and Ponta de Pedras estimated that the best years occurred from the year 2000 onwards. The estimated amount of common halfbeak caught between them was 90 and 320 kg per boat trip. It is possible that the techniques adopted between the colonies or the change of technique of the same colony over time, may explain the temporally different results between them.



Figure 4. Crossing official catch data (in tons/year) with the perception data of the year of greatest catch (in kg per trip) reported by the fishers of *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* (ballyhoo

halfbeak) and *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* (common halfbeak). Graph with secondary axis and a moving average trend line applied to the fishers perception record.

Discussion

Based on the results, the hypothesis that fishers specializing in the capture of halfbeak in Northeast Brazil are affected by the baseline syndrome was refuted, as the information provided by fishers of different age groups was consensual. In the case of *H. unifasciatus* (ballyhoo halfbeak), the majority reported a reduction in availability. Still, when we analyze the answers given by the informants from a quantitative point of view, there is no significance in this reduction. That is, the expression of this decrease in the amount of ballyhoo halfbeak is not detected statistically. It is important to point out that the other informants did not notice a change in the quantity of ballyhoo halfbeak. Knowing that fishers of different age groups had the same perception regarding the variation in the availability of ballyhoo halfbeak available for fishing, we can infer that the baseline syndrome does not affect this parameter in fishing. This result may indicate that the transmission of knowledge and experience from fishers occurs to new generations. This dynamic is important to avoid "generational amnesia": for example, as more experienced fishermen leave the system, the population's perception about normality refers to current conditions and past conditions are forgotten (Papworth et al., 2009). When a socioecological system is affected by the baseline shift syndrome, there is a reduction in the usefulness of local ecological knowledge in reconstructing trends in exploited populations (Sáenz-Arroyo et al., 2005). However, the results of this work point to the idea that, in general, fishers have a vast knowledge of the resources and the dynamics of the environment in which they work, although decision-makers rarely consider this knowledge for more integrated management of the resource (Hind, 2015).

Fishers's local ecological knowledge (LEK) helps to build trends regarding variations in the size of fish populations (Colloca et al., 2020). With this, it is possible to foresee changes or

adjustments in practices that involve the capture of certain species at specific times of the year or particular locations. In the Mediterranean Sea, Colloca et al. (2020) identified particular localities as points of high fishing records. This points to the importance of information transmitted by fishers, possibly indicating that certain areas need special attention in the management of fisheries resources. In addition, this information can consist of consultation bases when a species may have its survival threatened, characterized by a decline in capture (Colloca et al., 2020). Using the Local Ecological Knowledge of fishers as a reference, it is possible to reconstruct trend lines and abundance of fisheries resource populations in different places in aquatic ecosystems (Hallwass et al., 2019; Peñaherrera et al., 2018; Aminpour et al., 2020;). In the Straits of Sicily, for example, 95% of fishers reported the decline of commercially important species and species that had become locally extinct (Colloca et al., 2020). This shows that local ecological knowledge of fishers can be beneficial in reconstructing long-term population trends of exploited species when traditional standard data on catch fisheries or relative abundance of species from surveys is limited or only available for recent periods (Beaudreau & Levin, 2014). At this point, Local Ecological Knowledge also becomes important for taking conservation measures and takes place in the construction of management plans (Hanazaki, 2002; Córdula & Nascimento, 2020).

The Red Book of Brazilian Fauna Threatened with Extinction recorded that *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* (ballyhoo halfbeak), at risk of extinction, is a near-threatened species, that is, it is not classified as critically endangered or vulnerable, but is in the quantitative thresholds of the criteria and is likely to fall into a threat category soon. On the other hand, *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* (common halfbeak) was considered as a species of least concern, since no significant threats were identified regarding its geographic distribution and abundance (ICMBio/MMA, 2018). The present study showed that in *H. brasiliensis* (common halfbeak), there is a perception on the part of most fishers of stability in terms of availability in the environment. However, official catch data points to a variation in abundance on a short time

scale. Thus, the hypothesis that there is no consensus between the official and perception data regarding the variation in the temporal availability of the species was confirmed in *H. brasiliensis*. In addition, in their information, they agree with the official data of capture recorded in a sequence of years, showing differences in the supply of the two species, with the common halfbeak being the most abundant. This helps to explain the fact that it is more commercially exploited.

This current scenario indicates the importance of considering local ecological knowledge in the elaboration of a management plan that helps to maintain the sizes of commercially exploited populations in order to guarantee the maintenance of the resource in the medium and long term. Some research indicates that fishing increases the variability in the abundance of exploited species. Chih-hao Hsieh et al. (2006) isolated the effects of environmental variables and the effects caused by fishing on target species and those that are not used in fishing and identified evidence that in the marine environment, exploited species exhibit greater temporal variability in abundance than unexploited species. Following this line, we can infer that the exploited populations of common halfbeak may suffer from variation in temporal supply, including a reduction in its abundance. Despite not knowing for sure, what is directly linked to this greater risk of variability, it is already known that the increase in temporal variability in the population does not arise from variable exploitation, it arises from an increased instability in dynamics. Populations whose development is interrupted by fishing have increasingly unstable population dynamics due to changes in demographic parameters, such as intrinsic growth rates (Anderson et al., 2008).

The results indicated that the shorter the experience, the greater the perception of variation in the temporal availability of the ballyhoo halfbeak.

Acknowledgments

This work was carried out with the support of the Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel - Brazil (CAPES) - Financing Code 001. PFML thanks CNPq for a research productivity grant (301515 / 2019-0).

Data availability

The datasets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Conflict of Interest

The author declares that he has no conflict of interest.

Informed Consent

Participation in the study was voluntary and anonymous. Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study. The data and personal information collected through this study were treated confidentially.

Ethics Approval

The research was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Pernambuco (CAAE: 73680817.0.0000.5207).

References

Ainsworth, C. H., Pitcher, T. J., & Rotinsulu, C. (2008). Evidence of fishery depletions and cognitive baselines in Indonesia. *Biology Conservation*, 141, 848-859.

Aminpour, P., Gray, S., Jetter, A., Introne, J., Scyphers, S., Baltaxe, D., & Arlinghaus, R.(2020). Harnessing the Collective Intelligence of Natural Resource Users for Conservation.*Collective Intelligence*.

Anderson, C., Hsieh, C., Sandin, S. et al. (2008). Why Fishing Increases as Fish Abundance Fluctuates. *Nature*, 452, 835–839. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06851

Andrade, G. O., & Lins, R. C. (1971). Os climas do Nordeste. In: J. Vasconcelos-Sobrinho, J.(Ed.), As regiões naturais do Nordeste, o meio e a civilização. (pp. 95-138). CONDEPE.

Ayres, M., Ayres-Júnior, M., Ayres, D. L. & Santos, A.A. (2007). Bioestat – Aplicações estatísticas nas áreas das ciências biomédicas. *Ong Mamiraua*.

Beaudreau, A. H., & Levin, P. S. (2014). Advancing the use of local ecological knowledge for assessing data-poor species in coastal ecosystems. *Ecology Applications*, 24, 244–256. doi: 10.1890/13-0817.1

Bell, S. (2001) Landscape pattern, perception and visualization in the visual management of forests. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 54, 201-211.

Berg, S. (2006). Snowball sampling 1- Sequential estimation of the mean in finite population to Steiner's most frequent value. *Encyclopedia of Statistical Sciences*, 12. doi: 10.1002/0471667196.ess2478.pub2

Bruno, J. F., Precht, W. F., Vroom, P. S., & Aronson, R. B. (2014). Coral reef baselines: how much macroalgae is natural? *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 80, 24-29.

Chambers, L. E., Patterson, T., Hobday, A. J., Arnould, J. P. Y., Tuck, G. N., Wilcox, C., & Dann, P. (2014). Determining trends and environmental drivers from long-term marine mammal and seabird data: examples from Southern Australia. *Regional Environmental Change*, 15, 197-20.

Chih-Hao, H., Christian, S. R., John, R. H., John, R. B., Robert, M. M., & George, S. (2006). Fishing elevates variability in the abundance of exploited species. *Nature*, *443*(7113), 859-62. doi: 10.1038/nature05232 Colloca, F. C. V., Simonetti, A., Di Lorenzo, M. (2020). Using Local Ecological Knowledge of Fishers to Reconstruct Abundance Trends of Elasmobranch Populations in the Strait of Sicily. *Frontiers in Marine Scienc*, 7, 508. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00508

Córdula, E. B. L., & Nascimento, G. C. C. (2020). Conhecimento ecológico local e o segredo da sustentabilidade ambiental: saberes, práticas e relações ecológicas. Revista Educação Pública, 20(26).

Costello, C., Ovando, D., Hilbonr, R., Gaines, S. D., Deschenes, O., & Lester S. E. (2012). Status and solutions for the world's unassessed fisheries. *Science*, 338, 517-520. 0.1126/science.1223389 (80-.)

Daw, T. M., Robinson, J., & Graham, N. A. J. (2011). Perceptions of trends in Seychelles artisanal trap fisheries: comparing catch monitoring, underwater visual census and fishers' knowledge. *Environmental Conservation*, 38, 75–88.

Eddy, T. D., Cheung, W. W. L., & Bruno, J. F. (2018) Historical baselines of coral cover on tropical reefs as estimated by expert opinion. *PeerJ*, 6, e4308 https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4308

FAO (2011). Review of the State of the World Marine Fishery Resources. FAO Tech. Pap.

Freire, K. M. F., et al., (2014). Revisting Brazilian Catch Data for Brazilian Marine Waters (1950-2010). *Fisheries Centre, University of British Columbia, Vancouver*, BC, v6t 1z4, Canadá.

Fréon, P., Cury, P., Shannon, L., & Roy, C. (2005). Sustainable exploitation of small pelagic Fish stocks challenged by environmental and ecosystem changes: a review. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, *76*(2), 385–462.

Hallwass, G., Lopes, P. F., Juras, A. A., & Silvano, R. A. M. (2013). Fishers' knowledge

identifies environmental changes and fish abundance trends in impounded tropical rivers. *Ecological Applications*, 23, 392–407.

Hallwass, G., Schiavetti, A., & Silvano, R. A. M. (2019). Fishers' knowledge indicates temporal changes in composition and abundance of fishing resources in Amazon protected áreas. *Animal Conservation*. 23(1), 36-47. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12504

Hanazaki, N. (2002). Comunidades, conservação e manejo: o papel do conhecimento ecológico local. Biotemas, 16(1), 23-47.

Hind, A. (2014). Review of the past, the present, and the future of fisher' knowledge research: a challenge to established fisheries science ICES. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, 72, 341-358.

Hind, E. J. (2015). A review of the past, the present, and the future of fishers' knowledge research: a challenge to established fisheries science. *Marine Science*, 72(2), 341-358. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsu169

Hughes, J. M., & Stewart, J. (2006). Reproductive biology of three commercially important Hemiramphid species in south-eastern Australia. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 75, 237– 256.

IBAMA (1995-2000). Boletim estatístico da pesca marítima no estado de Pernambuco.
Ministério do Meio Ambiente, Centro de Pesquisa e Extensão Pesqueira do Nordeste –
CEPENE.

ICMBio/MMA (2018). Livro Vermelho da Fauna Brasileira Ameaçada de Extinção: Vol. I/6, Ed. Brasília.

Jackson, J. B. C., Kirby, M. X., Berger, W. H., Bjorndal, K. A., Botsford, L. W., et al. (2001) Historical Overfishing and the Recent Collapse of Coastal Ecosystems. *Science*, 293, 629– 637.

Johannes, R. E., Freeman, M. M., & Hamilton, R. J. (2000). Ignore fishers' knowledge and miss the boat. *Fish and Fisheries*, 1, 257–271.

Lessa, R. P., & Nóbrega, M. F. (2000). *Guia de Identificação de Peixes Marinhos da Região Nordeste*. Programa REVIZEE / SCORE-NE.

Lessa, et al. (2006). Diagnóstico da Pesca no Litoral de Pernambuco. In: V. J. Isaac, A. S. Martins, M. Haimovici, J. M. Andriguetto-Filho. (Org.). *A pesca marinha e estuarina do Brasil no início do século XXI: Recursos, tecnologias, aspectos socioeconômicos e institucionais.* (1, pp. 1-188). Universidade Federal do Pará.

Lessa, R. P., Nóbrega, M. F., & Bezerra-Júnior, J. (2004). *Dinâmica de Populações e Avaliações de Estoques dos Recursos Pesqueiros da Região Nordeste*. Programa REVIZEE.

Lira, L. (2010). Diagnóstico socioeconômico da pesca artesanal do litoral de Pernambuco. Instituto Oceanário de Pernambuco: Departamento de Pesca e Aquicultura da UFRPE.

Lotze, H. K., & Worm, B. (2009) Historical baselines for large marine animals. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 24, 254–262.

McDowell, W. C. (2013). *Historical Research A Guide*. Routledge.

Medeiros, C. Q., & Kjerfve, B. (1993). Hydrology of a tropical estuarine system: Itamaracá, Brazil. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 36, 495–515.

Nimer, E. (1979). *Pluviometria e recursos hídricos dos estados de Pernambuco e Paraíba*. Suore.

O'Donnell, K. P., Pajaro, M. G., & Vincent, A. C. J. (2010) Improving conservation and fishery assessments with local knowledge: future directions. *Animal Conservation*, 13, 539-

Oliveira, M. R., & Chellappa, S. (2014). Temporal Dynamics of Reproduction in Hemiramphus brasiliensis (Osteichthyes: Hemiramphidae). *The Scientific World Journal*, 2014, https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/837151

Papworth, S. K., Rist, J., Coad, L., & Milner-Gulland, E. J. (2009). Evidence for shifting baseline syndrome in conservation. *Conservation Letters*, 2(2), 93-100. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2009.00049.x

Pauly, D. (1995). Anecdotes and the shifting baseline syndrome of fisheries. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *10*(10), 430.

Pauly D., Hilborn R., & Branch T. A. (2013). Fisheries: Does catch reflect abundance? *Nature*, 494: 303–306. doi: 10.1038/494303a PMID: 23426308

Pauly D., Watson R., & Alder J. (2005). Global trends in world fisheries: impacts on marine ecosystems and food security. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 360: 5–12.

Peñaherrera, C., van Putten, I., Karpievitch, Y. V., Frusher, S., Llerena-Martillo, Y., Hearn, A., & Semmens, J. (2018). Evaluating abundance trends of iconic species using local ecological knowledge. *Biological Conservation*, 225. 10.1016/j.biocon.2018.07.004

Pereira, P. H. C., Ferreira, B. P., & Rezende, S. M. (2010). Community structure of the ichthyofauna associated with seagrass beds (Halodule wrightii) in Formoso River estuary – Pernambuco, Brazil. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*, 82(3), 617-628.

Pikitch, E. K., Boersma, P. D., Boyd, I. L., Conover, D. O., & Curry, P. (2017). The strong connection between forage fish and their predators: a response to Hilborn et al. (2017). *Fisheries Research*, 198, 220-223.

37

Pinnegar, J. K., Engelhard, G. H. (2008). The 'shifting baseline'phenomenon: a global perspective. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 18, 1–16.

Pires, I. (1997). De isca a caviar- potencial econômico dos peixes do Nordeste ainda e pouco explorada. *Ciência Hoje*, 22, 67-68.

Pitcher, T. J. (2001). Fisheries managed to rebuild ecosystems? Reconstructing the past to salvage the future. *Ecological Applications*, 11(2), 601–617.

Roberts, C. M. (2003). Our shifting perspectives on the oceans. Oryx, 37, 166–177.

Ruano-Chamorro, C., Subida, M. D., & Fernández, M. (2017). Fishers' perception: An alternative source of information to assess the data-poor benthic small-scale artisanal fisheries of central Chile. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 146, 67-76. ISSN 0964-5691, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2017.06.007

Sáenz-Arroyo, A., Roberts, C. M., Torres, J., & Cariño-Olvera, M. (2005). Using fishers' anecdotes, naturalists' observation and grey literature to reassess marine species at risk: the case of the Gulf grouper in the Gulf of California, Mexico. *Fish and Fisheries*, 6, 121-133.

Sáenz-Arroyo, A., Roberts, C. M., Torre J., Cariño-Olvera, M., & Hawkins, J. P. (2006). The value of evidence about past abundance: marine fauna of the Gulf of California through the eyes of 16th to 19th century travellers. *Fish and Fisheries*, 7, 128–146.

Silvano, R. A. M., & Begossi, A. (2009). What do people think about pollution? Contributions of Human Ecology to the study of river pollution with a focus on Brazil. In: M. N. Gallo, & M. H. Ferrari (Eds.), *River Pollution Research Progress* (1st ed., pp. 283-296). Nova Publishers Inc.

Taylor, R. B., Morrison, M. A., & Shears, N. T. (2011). Establishing baselines for recovery in a marine reserve (Poor Knights Islands, New Zealand) using local ecological knowledge.

Valin, H., Sands, R. D., van der Mensbrugghe, D., Nelson, G. C., Ahammad, H., Blanc, E., ..., & Willenbockel, D., (2014). The future of food demand: Understanding differences in global economic models. *Agricultural Economics*, *45*(1), 51-67, 10.1111/agec.12089

5. Orçamento

Este estudo foi financiado pela Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) por meio de Bolsa de Doutorado para o discente Thiago Pereira Guerra e com auxílio pesquisa (Item 0), em um depósito o valor de R\$800,00 (2018), outro no valor de R\$800,00 (2019) e outro no valor de R\$1.000,00 (2020). Não houve despesas para material de campo. Os custos de transporte (Item 1) referem-se ao gasto com combustível nos 4 trajetos: 2x trajeto para entrevistas em Ponta de Pedras; 2x trajeto para entrevistas em Itamaracá, com uma média de R\$ 80,00/trajeto. A alimentação (Item 2) refere-se a dias de permanência nos locais de entrevistas, que duraram 10 dias e totalizam uma média de R\$30,00/dia. A estada (Item 3) refere-se a hospedagem nos locais de entrevistas, que nos 10 dias totalizaram uma média de R\$60,00/dia. A tradução do manuscrito para a língua inglesa (Item 4), refere-se a requisitos de submissão da revista "Fisheries Research", sendo selecionada a melhor proposta de orçamento entre tradutores com qualificação e qualidade profissional comprovada. A tradução do manuscrito para a língua inglesa (Item 5), refere-se a requisitos de submissão da revista "Human Ecology", sendo selecionada a melhor proposta de orçamento entre tradutores com qualificação e qualidade profissional comprovada.

Ao total foram investidos R\$2.860,00 durante 8 semestres (2017.1-2020.2) de atividades pré-experimento, experimento e pós experimento, com um gasto médio de R\$357,50/semestre. O resultado orçamentário do projeto foi negativo no valor de (-) R\$240,00, que foi liquidado por reservas internas da banca de orientação.

Tabela 1. Itens de despesa com respectivo valor gasto durante o desenvolvimento do projeto de pesquisa entre os meses de março/2017 a novembro/2020.

ITEM DE RECEITA		VALOR
0. Auxílio pesquisa (Fonte PPGETNO)	R\$	2.600,00
ITEM DE DESPESA		VALOR
1. Transporte	R\$	320,00
2. Alimentação	R\$	300,00

3. Estada	R\$	600,00
4. Tradução para o inglês 1° artigo	R\$	820,00
5. Tradução para o inglês 2° artigo	R\$	800,00
Total de despesas	R\$	2.860,00
Total de despesas (-) Receita	-R\$	240,00

6. Referências

ADAMS, A. J.; EBERSOLE, J.P. Use of back-reef lagoon habitats by coral reef fishes. Marine Ecology Progress Series, v. 228, p. 213–226, 2002.

ALVES, M. S. Fauna associada aos prados Halodule wrightii Aschers. In: BARROS, H. M. (Ed.); MACEDO, S. J.; ESKINAZI-LEÇA, L. T. Gerenciamento participativo de estuários e manguezais. Recife: Ed. Universitária da UFPE, 2000.

AMORIM, A. L. A. Comparação da Dieta de Hyporhamphus unifasciatus (Ranzani, 1841) (Beloniformes: Hemiramphidae) em dois estuários do Nordeste do Brasil. 2015. 27 f. Monografia (Graduação em Ciências Biológicas) - Universidade Estadual da Paraíba, João Pessoa.

BAFFOUR-AWUAH, E. Perceptive views of fishermen on sustainability of fishing in the fosu lagoon in Cape Coast, Ghana. Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development, v. 5, p. 94–103, 2014.

BALÉE, W. The research program of historical ecology. Annual Review of Anthropology, v. 35, p. 75–98, 2006.

BECK, M. W. et al. The identification, conservation, and management of estuarine and marine nurseries for fish and invertebrates. Bioscience, v. 51, p. 633–642, 2001.

BEGOSSI, A. et al. Ethnobiology and snapper conservation in the artisanal fisheries of Brazil: target species and suggestions for management. Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine, v. 7, p. 11, 2011.

BELL, S. Landscape pattern, perception and visualisation in the visual management of forests. Landscape and Urban Planning, v. 54, p. 201-211, 2001.

BERKELEY, S. A.; HOUDE, E. D. Biology of two exploited species of halfbeaks Hemiramphus brasiliensis and Hemiramphus balaofrom the southeast Florida. Bulletin of Marine Science, v. 28, n. 4, p. 624-644. 1978.

CAVALCANTE, L. F. M.; OLIVEIRA, M. R.; CHELLAPPA, S. Aspectos reprodutivos do ariacó, Lutjanus synagris nas águas costeiras do Rio Grande do Norte. Biota Amazônia, v. 2, n. 1, p. 45-50, 2012.

COETZEE, D. J. Analysis of the gut contents of the needlefish, Hyporhamphus knysnaensis (Smith), from Rondevlei, southern Cape. South African Journal of Zoology, v. 16, p. 14-20, 1981.

COLEY, J. D. et al. Inductive reasoning in Folkbiology thought. In: MEDIN, D. L.; ATRAN, S. (Eds.). Folkbiology. Cambridge: Massachusetts Instituteof Technology. 1999. p. 205–32.

COLLETE, B. B. Hemiramphidae. In: CARPENTER, K. E. (Ed.). The living marine resources of the Western Central Atlantic. Volume 2: Bony fishes part 1 (Acipenseridae to Grammatidae). FAO Species Identification Guide for Fishery Purposes and American Society of Ichthyologists and Herpetologists Special Publication No. 5. Rome: FAO, 2002. p. 601-1374.

COLLETTE, B. B. Hemiramphidae. In: FAO species identification sheets for fishery purposes. FISHER, W. (Ed). Western Central Atlantic (Fishing area 31), vol. 2. Rome: FAO, 1978.

DAW, T. M., J. ROBINSON, and N. A. J. GRAHAM. Perceptions of trends in Seychelles artisanal trap fisheries: comparing catch monitoring, underwater visual census and fishers' knowledge. Environmental Conservation v. 38, p. 75–88, 2011.

FUNDAÇÃO PROZEE. Monitoramento da atividade pesqueira no litoral de Brasil: Relatório técnico final. Convênio SEAP\PROZEE\IBAMA. 2006. 328 p.

GAME, E. T. et al. Pelagic protected areas: the missing dimension in ocean conservation. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, v. 24, n. 7, p. 360-369, 2009.

GUERRA, T. P. et al. Damage or benefit? How future scenarios of climate change may affect the distribution of small pelagic fishes in the coastal seas of the Americas. Fisheries Research, v. 234, 105815, 2021.

HALLWASS, G. et al. Fishers' knowledge identifies environmental changes and fish abundance trends in impounded tropical rivers. Ecological Applications, v. 23, n. 2, p. 392–407, 2013.

HANAZAKI, N. et al. Evidence of the shifting baseline syndrome in ethnobotanical research. Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine, v. 75, n. 9, p. 1-11, 2003.

HARDY, J. D.; JOHNSON, R. K. Descriptions of halfbeak larvae and juveniles from Chesapeake Bay (Pisces: Hemiramphidae). Chesapeake Science, v. 15, n. 4, p. 241-246, 1974.

HIND A, Review of the past, the present, and the future of fisher' knowledge research: a challenge to established fisheries science ICES J. Mar. Sci., 72 (2014), pp. 341-358.

HUGHES, J. M.; STEWART, J. Reproductive biology of three commercially important Hemiramphid species in south-eastern Australia. Environmental Biology of Fishes, v. 75, p. 237–256, 2006.

ICMBIO. Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade. Peixes-bois são levados de Pernambuco para Alagoas. 2015. Disponível em<http://www.icmbio.gov.br/portal/ultimas-noticias/4-destaques/7438-peixes-bois-sao-transportados-de-pernambuco-para-alagoas>. Acesso em: 24 out. 2016.

JONES, G. K. Growth and mortality in a lightly fished population of garfish (*Hyporhamphus malanocrhir*), in Baird Bay, south Australia. Trans. Royal Society of South Australia, v. 114, n. 1, p. 37-45, 1990.

KLUMPP, D. W.; NICHOLS, P. D. Nutrition of the southern sea garfish Hyporhamphus melanochir: gut passage rate and daily consumption of two food types and assimilation of seagrass components. Marine Ecology Progress Series, v. 12, p. 207-216, 1983.

LAEGDSGAARD, P.; JOHNSON, C. Why do juvenile fish utilize mangrove habitats? Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, v. 257, p. 229–253, 2001.

LESSA, R. P.; NÓBREGA, M. F. Guia de Identificação de Peixes Marinhos da Região Nordeste. Programa REVIZEE / SCORE-NE. Recife. 2000.

LESSA, R. P.; NÓBREGA, M. F.; BEZERRA-JÚNIOR, J. (Orgs.). Dinâmica de Populações e Avaliações de Estoques dos Recursos Pesqueiros da Região Nordeste. Programa REVIZEE. Recife. Volume II, 2004. LIESKE, E.; MYERS, R. Collins Pocket Guide. Coral reef fish. Indo-Pacific & Caribbean including Red Sea. Haper Collins Publishers, 1994. 400 p.

MAGALHÃES, K. M.; ALVES, M. S. Fanerógamas marinhas do litoral do estado de Pernambuco: In: Tabarelli, M., Silva, J.M.C. (Eds). Diagnostico da biodiversidade de Pernambuco. Secretaria de Ciência, Tecnologia e Meio Ambiente. Recife: Massangana, 2002. p. 173-181.

MARTINS, I. M.; MEDEIROS, R. P.; HANAZAKI, N. From fish to ecosystems: The perceptions of fishermen neighboring a southern Brazilian marine protected area. Ocean & Coastal Management, v. 91, p. 50-57, 2014.

MCBRIDE, R. S.; STYER, J. R. Species, catch rates, and size structure of fishes captured in the south Florida lampara net fishery. Marine Fishery Reviews, v. 60, n. 1, p. 21-27, 2003.

McBRIDE, R. S.; THURMAN, P. E. Reproductive biology of *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* and *H. balao* (Hemiramphidae): maturation, spawning frequency, and fecundity. Biological Bulletin, v. 204, n. 1, p. 57–67, 2003.

MONTEIRO, A. Biologie et pêche des Aiguilles *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* (Linnaeus, 1758) et *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* (Ranzani, 1842) (Poissons-Téléostéens-Hemiramphidae) dans la région Nord-Est du Brésil. 2003. 210 f. Tese (Doutorado em Oceanografia Biológica) - Université de Bretagne Occidentale, Brest.

MONTEIRO, A.; NÓBREGA, M. F; LESSA, R. L. 2004. Hemiramphus brasiliensis. 151-161. In: LESSA, R. L.; NÓBREGA, M. F.; BEZERRA-JÚNIOR, J. (ORG) 2004. Dinâmica de populações e Avaliação de Estoques dos Recursos Pesqueiros da Região Nordeste. REVIZEE. Volume II. Recife. 246 p.

MOURA, R. T. DE. Produção, biomassa e densidade demográfica da fanerógama marinha *Halodule wrightii* Ascherson, em prados do médio litoral da costa leste da Ilha de Itamaracá – Pernambuco – Brasil. 2000. 164 f. Tese (Doutorado em Botânica) - Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco, Recife.

MURUA, H.; SABORIDO-REY, F. Female reproductive strategies of marine fish species of the North Atlantic. Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery Science, v. 33, p. 23-31, 2003.

NASCIMENTO, M. J. S.; COELHO-FILHO, P. A.; CASTRO, N. A. Aspectos socioeconômicos da pesca artesanal em Suape, Cabo de Santo Agostinho, Pernambuco

(Brasil). Revista Brasileira de Engenharia de Pesca, v. 9, n. 1, p. 65-76, 2016.

NELSON, J. A. Fishes of the world. 4. Ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2006. 600 p.

O'DONNELL, K. P., M. G. PAJARO, and A. C. J. VINCENT. How does the accuracy of fisher knowledge affect seahorse conservation status? Animal Conservation v. 13, 526-533 2010. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2010.00377.x

OLIVEIRA FILHO, A. C.; PIRANI, J. R.; GUILIETTI, A. M. The Brazilian seagrasses. Aquatic Botany Amsterdam, v. 56, p. 25-33, 1983.

OLIVEIRA, M. R.; CHELLAPPA, S. Temporal Dynamics of Reproduction in Hemiramphus brasiliensis (Osteichthyes: Hemiramphidae). The Scientific World Journal, vol. 2014, Article ID 837151, 8 pages, 2014. doi:10.1155/2014/837151

OLIVEIRA, M. R. et al. Estratégias reprodutivas de sete espécies de peixes das águas costeiras do Rio Grande do Norte, Brasil. HOLOS, Ano 31, Vol. 6, 2015.

OXENFORD, H. A. et al. Otolith age validation and growth-rate variation in flyingfish (*Hirundychthys affinis*) from the eastern Caribbean. Marine Biology, v. 118, p. 585-592, 1994.

PAULY, D.; HILBORN, R.; BRANCH, T. A. Fisheries: Does catch reflect abundance? Nature, v. 494, p. 303–306, 2013.

PENNINO, M. G. et al. Modeling sensitive elasmobranch habitats. Journal Sea Research, v. 83, p. 209-218, 2013.

PEREIRA, P. H. C.; FERREIRA, B. P.; REZENDE, S. M. Community structure of the ichthyofauna associated with seagrass beds (Halodule wrightii) in Formoso River estuary – Pernambuco, Brazil. Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências, v. 82, n.3, p. 617-628, 2010.

PIRES, I. De isca a caviar- potencial econômico dos peixes do Nordeste ainda e pouco explorada. Ciência Hoje, v. 22, p. 67-68, 1997.

RICKLEFS, R. E. A economia da natureza. 6ª edição: Guanabara Koogan, 2010. 570p.

ROBERTSON, A. I.; KLUMPP, D. W. Feeding habits of the southern Australian Garfish Hyporhamphus melanochir: a diurnal herbivore and nocturnal carnivore. Marine Ecology Progress Series, v. 10, p. 197-201, 1983.

SÁENZ-ARROYO et al. Using fishers' anecdotes, naturalists' observations and grey literature to reassess marine species at risk: the case of the Gulf grouper in the Gulf of California, Mexico. Fish and Fisheries , 2005, 6, 121–133.

SANTOS, S. M. Contribuição ao estudo da agulha-preta (Hemiramphus brasiliensis). (Pisces: Beloniformes, Hemiramphidae). Recife: Universidade Federal de Pernambuco, 1970. 19 f. Trab. Oceanogr.

SILVANO, R. A. M.; BEGOSSI, A. What do people think about pollution? Contributions of Human Ecology to the study of river pollution with a focus on Brazil. In: Gallo MN, Ferrari MH, (Eds.). River Pollution Research Progress. 1. ed. New York: Nova Publishers Inc., 2009. p. 283–296.

SOKOLOVSKY, A. S.; SOKOLOVSKAYA, T. G. Some aspects of biology of the japanese halfbeak *Hyporhamphus sajori* from Peter the Great Bay, Sea of Japan. Journal of Marine Biology, v. 25, n. 5, p. 426-430, 1999.

STEWART, J.; HUGHES, J. M. Age validation and growth of three commercially important hemiramphids in south-eastern Australia. Journal Fishery Biology, v. 70, p. 65-82, 2007.

THE, L. S. L.; THE, L. C. L.; SUMAILA, U. R. Quantifying the overlooked socio-economic contribution of small-scale fisheries in Sabah, Malaysia. Fisheries Research, v. 110, p. 450–458, 2011.

TRNSKI, T.; LEIS, J. M.; CARSON-EWART, B. M. Hemiramphidae. In: LEIS, J. M.; CARSON-EWART, B. M. (Eds.). The larvae of Indo-Pacific coastal fishes: an identification guide to marine fish larvae. Faune Malesian Handbooks, 2 Brill: Leiden, 2000. p. 154-158.

VASCONCELOS FILHO, A. L. et al. Estudo ecológico da região de Itamaracá – Pernambuco
– Brasil. XXVII. Hábitos alimentares de alguns peixes estuarinos. Recife. Universidade
Federal de Pernambuco, 1984. 29 f. Trab. Oceanogr.

VASCONCELOS FILHO, A. L. et al. Hábitos alimentares de consumidores primários da ictiofauna do sistema estuarino de Itamaracá (Pernambuco - Brasil). Revista Brasileira de Engenharia de Pesca, v. 4, n. 1, 2009.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Fisheries Research



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/fishres

Damage or benefit? How future scenarios of climate change may affect the distribution of small pelagic fishes in the coastal seas of the Americas

Thiago Pereira Guerra ^a, *, Josiene Maria Falcão Fraga dos Santos ^b, Maria Grazia Pennino ^c, Priscila Fabiana Macedo Lopes ^d

^a Universidade Federal Rural de Pernambuco - UFRPE, Recife (PE), Brazil

^b Universidade Estadual de Alagoas, Núcleo de Biologia, Palmeira dos Índios (AL), Brazil

^c Instituto Español de Oceanografía, Centro Oceanográfico de Murcia, C/ Varadero 1, San Pedro del Pinatar, 30740, Murcia, Spain

^d Fishing Ecology Management and Economics (FEME), Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte – UFRN. Depto. de Ecologia, Natal, RN, Brazil

ARTICLE INFO

Handled by Steven X. Cadrin

Keywords: Temperature rise Distribution models Hyporhamphus unifasciatus Hemiramphus brasiliensis Brazilian fisheries

ABSTRACT

Species occurrence and distribution have already been directly affected by climate change, a scenario that is likely to be accentuated as the temperature rise is expected to exceed 2 °C by 2100. Owing to climate change, organisms are forced to migrate or adapt to new climatic conditions, and if they fail to do so, they are at risk of declining and becoming extinct. However, some species are adapted to overcome and even benefit from these new conditions, increasing their occurrence area or even their abundance. Using Bayesian Species Distribution Models (B-SDMs), we evaluated the current distribution of two halfbeak fishes, *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* and *Hemiramphus brasiliensis*, and the effect of climate changes predicted for 2050 and 2100 on the distribution of these populations in coastal waters of the Americas. We used species occurrence data from bibliographical sources and online databases. One biotic (net primary production - NPP) and four abiotic variables (sea surface temperature - SST), sea surface salinity - SSS), depth, and sea bottom rugosity) were used as potential predictors of species distribution. Results indicated that both species are more likely found in shallower, warmer, and saltier waters. Model prediction suggests that they will probably benefit from climate change, with potential increase in their occurrence area in coastal regions of the Americas, especially due to temperature rise and increased salinity.

1. Introduction

Due to the influence of climate change, we have been witnessing a major redistribution of species worldwide. According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), human activities have been contributing with global temperature rise since the 1st Industrial Revolution, and by 2100 global warming is likely to exceed 2 °C (IPCC, 2018). Several impacts that are majorly negative are expected to affect most organisms on Earth, including marine ones. In fact, this can already be observed in coral bleaching events (Hoegh-Guldberg, 2005), seafood contamination (Kibria et al., 2013, 2016b), changes in several fish physiological aspects, such as impaired growth, reproduction, and survival (Perry, 2011; Kibria et al., 2016a), decline in fish diversity (Fischlin et al., 2007; Bates et al., 2008), and movement of fish towards deeper (Dulvy et al., 2008; Nye et al., 2009) and cooler waters (Last et al., 2011; Wernberg et al., 2011; Cheung et al., 2013; Barange et al., 2014). Rapid climate change most likely reduce the chances of several species adjusting to new environmental conditions, since the response to changes tends to be insufficient to keep up with their speed and magnitude (Sinervo et al., 2010). Local adaptation and/or vertical and geographical fish migration, for instance, with consequent shift in their original distribution, is particularly affected by changes in temperature, salinity, and even depth due to sea level rise. Species that do no adapt or migrate are at risk of extinction (Berg et al., 2010; Feary et al., 2014). Pelagic fishes are expected to have the highest distributional shifts; aside from having higher mobility, sea surface layers is expected to suffer changes in their conditions at a higher rate (Cheung et al., 2012).

Although most studies report that some tropical and subtropical species are moving to warming temperate regions, while evading the tropics (Barange et al., 2014; Cheung et al., 2013, 2009; Last et al., 2011; Rijnsdorp et al. 2009), some species might be able to simply expand their original occurrence area (Barange et al., 2014; Cheung et al. 2013) or their abundance (Doubleday et al. 2016). The distribution of these

* Corresponding author. *E-mail address:* thiagoguerra@yahoo.com.br (T.P. Guerra).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2020.105815

Received 19 July 2020; Received in revised form 5 November 2020; Accepted 6 November 2020 0165-7836/© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.



species may increase due to their physiological characteristics or to changes in the trophic web because of the intolerance of their predators to higher temperatures, for instance (Wernberg et al., 2011; Tian et al., 2012). Thus, it seems likely that any shifts in diversity resulting from species redistribution shall have consequences on the ecosystems, including changes in the original food web (Online et al., 2017). For example, the arrival of new organisms can lead to increased mortality of some prey species either by predation or by competition with other predatory species in the area (Harley, 2011).

Depending on the sensitivity of species and ecological processes, the effects of climate change may be synergistic or even antagonistic (Fulton, 2011; Seabra et al., 2015). Additionally, the interaction of the effects of climate changes with other human stressors is likely to increase the impacts on marine species at regional and local scales (Halpern et al., 2008). One example of these stressors is human development and growth in coastal areas, which lead to the degradation of these environments, both by higher demand for fish as food and by habitat change due to construction and pollution (Bolívar et al., 2019; Ouyang et al., 2018). These actions reduce or negatively affect marine and coastal habitats that are important for species feeding, reproduction, and nursing, e.g. mangroves, reefs, and meadows formed by seagrass (Hughes and Stewart, 2006; De Oliveira and Chellappa, 2014; de Vasconcelos Filho et al., 2009). Consequently, fish abundance and marine life tend to decrease, posing a risk not only to ecosystems, but also to entire coastal socio-ecological systems, especially those marked by high human dependence on marine resources (de Barros et al., 2013; Haupt et al., 2017; Lopes et al., 2015; de Macedo et al., 2000).

Impacts on biodiversity or ecosystem services caused by climate change that result in species redistribution can be analyzed through Species Distribution Models (SDMs) (Cheung et al., 2010). SDMs are largely used in terrestrial and aquatic environments to identify species-environment relationships and predict species occurrence and/or abundance at unsampled sites (Elith and Leathwick, 2009). To date, many of these models have been used to predict the occurrence or abundance of species with high commercial value or with clear interest for conservation, and they often exclude smaller species that may occasionally play an important role in the trophic web or in human food security. Some halfbeak fish species fit these latter aspects, since they do not have great commercial importance but are used as source of food and income by fishing communities in several coastal regions around the globe (Fernandes, 2011; Lessa and Nóbrega, 2000; Mcbride et al., 1996; Pereira et al., 2010; Suzuki 1983). They are also used as bait for sport fishing (Nelson, 2006) and are part of the trophic web of large fish of economic value, such as tunas and billfish (Pires, 1997). Additionally, halfbeak fish are coastal species that occur in shallow and meadow environments, areas which are extremely vulnerable to local impacts (De Oliveira and Chellappa, 2014).

Therefore, the aim of this study was to predict the occurrence and the future effect of climate change on the distribution of two halfbeak species in the Atlantic and Pacific oceans that wash the shores of the Americas, *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* (Linnaeus, 1758), common halfbeak, and *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* (Ranzani, 1841), ballyhoo halfbeak. Specifically, we used SDMs to (i) identify which biotic or abiotic characteristics have stronger influences on the distribution of these species; and (ii) investigate distributional shifts, including any eventual expansion or retraction, of these species in face of future scenarios of climate changes (2050 and 2100, optimistic and pessimistic scenarios of carbon emission).

2. Material and methods

2.1. Study area and database

The data used to predict current and future distribution of *Hemi*ramphus brasiliensis and *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* along the American coasts (primordial site of occurrence of the study species) derive from

two sources: 1) bibliographical review and 2) online databases (Aquamaps, Gbif, and Species Link), which provide data on the presence of species (all sources, including geographical location of species occurrence events reported, are in Supplementary Material S1). For the bibliographical review, we thoroughly identified previous studies on the occurrence of H. brasiliensis and H. unifasciatus georeferenced in the Americas. The studies selected were mostly scientific samplings reporting the presence of these species in a given location, often using methods such as transects. In transects, the researcher may sample multiple areas close to each other (by a few meters, for example). For these cases where more than one georeferenced location was presented for the same general area, we randomly took one of the locations and assigned the species presence to it. Reports with ambiguous or dubious information and no geographical coordinates were excluded. In order to ensure that we included all information available, we extracted all the presence data from online databases, and then, excluded duplicated observations. After that, we combined both data sources (online databases and bibliographical review) about the presence of H. brasiliensis and H. unifasciatus in a single presence dataset for each species.

A total of 15,438 observations were reported, which is adequate to run the model (Fig. 1a and 1b). A total of 256 *H. brasiliensis* records were extracted from Aquamaps, 13,498 presences were reported in Gbif, two presence records were reported in Species Link, and 136 presence records were found in bibliographical sources. On the other hand, 193 presence records of *H. unifasciatus* were reported in Aquamaps, 1122 were reported in Gbif, eight records were reported in Species Link, and 223 presence records were found in bibliographical sources. Once duplicates were excluded, 13,542 single records remained for *H. brasiliensis* and 1282 for *H. unifasciatus*.

2.2. Environmental data

Four abiotic variables were considered as potential predictors of *H. brasiliensis* and *H. unifasciatus* distribution: sea surface temperature (SST in °C), sea surface salinity (SSS in PSU), depth (in meters), and sea bottom ruggedness. One biotic variable was considered: net primary production (NPP in mg Cm⁻² d⁻¹).

SST and SSS were both extracted with a 1° x 1° (~ 100 km) spatial resolution from NODS_WOA09 as long-term climatology provided by NOAA / OAR / ESRL PSD, in Boulder, Colorado, USA at their website: http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/psd/. These variables were chosen because together they affect physiological processes of individuals, and therefore, species distribution (Lalli and Parsons, 1997).

Depth was derived from the database MARSPEC, (http://www.ma rspec.org), corresponding to a global ocean dataset with a $1^{\circ} \times 1^{\circ}$ spatial resolution, developed to be used in marine spatial ecology (Sbrocco and Barber, 2013). This variable was chosen because it is one of the major environmental gradients that control spatial patterns of marine species (Costa et al., 2017; Dell'Apa et al., 2017).

Rugosity was derived from the depth map using the "Terrain" feature of the "raster" package (Hijimans, 2017) in the R software (R Core Team, 2019). This feature generates a rugosity index (Terrain Ruggedness Index) as the mean of absolute differences between the value of a cell and the value of the adjacent eight cells. Low rugosity values indicate that there are no variations in terrain, e.g. an unconsolidated substrate (for example, mud and sand), while high rugosity values are associated to potential rocky substrates (Fonseca et al., 2017). When there is no detailed information available about the type of sediment, this parameter is largely used as a predictor of species distribution (Pennino et al., 2019). Rugosity is used in marine species distribution models since many species, especially demersal species, tend to restrain their occupation to the bottom, where they find food or shelter (Dunn and Halpin, 2009). Pelagic ones, as the ones in this study, might be affected by the rugosity of the sea floor if that defines their feeding habitats or nursing sites, for example (Maravelias, 1999).

Net primary production (NPP) was extracted from a global 920 \times



Fig. 1. Presence sites (red circles) of *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* (a) and *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* (b), identified by searching the literature and databases (Aquamaps, Gbif, and Species Link). (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article).

1680 NPP grid and calculated according to chlorophyll, available light, and photosynthetic efficiency using the entire chlorophyll record from SeaWIFS (1998–2016), at the Ocean Productivity website, with a 1° x 1° resolution (http://www.science.oregonstate.edu/ocean.productivity/i ndex.php). Net primary production was chosen as it is an indicator of food availability at the base of the marine food chain, thus favoring the presence of small pelagic fishes (Durbin, 1979).

Caution was taken to ensure that the spatial resolution used $(1^{\circ} \times 1^{\circ})$ was the same for each environmental predictor, since they were extracted from different sources. All environmental variables were standardized to allow the comparison of relative weights between variables (Kinas and Andrade, 2014).

Multicollinearity was checked using Pearson's correlation index and VIF (Variance Inflation Factor). Typical data exploitation procedures were routinely performed according to Zuur et al. (2010). All variables used in the model had correlations lower than r = 0.65 and VIF lower than 3.

Additionally, spatial models were generated to check future scenarios for 2050 and 2100, using different predictions for variables extracted from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Changes (IPCC) using the database BioOracle (http: //www.biooracle.org) with 1° x 1° spatial resolution. Greenhouse gas concentration trajectory was based on Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP), which are scenarios that describe alternative trajectories for carbon dioxide emissions and the resulting atmospheric concentration between 2000 and 2100, considering an optimistic stabilization scenario (RCP 2.6) and a pessimistic "business-as-usual" scenario (RCP 8.5). We particularly used the mean value between RCP 2.6 and RCP 8.5 for 2050 and 2100, which includes future SSS and SST scenarios. Depth and rugosity were kept constant, as well as NPP, since there is no spatial prediction for these variables (as they are not supposed to change significantly).

2.3. Sampling of uncertainties

Data collection from several sources (literature, Aquamaps, Gbif, and Species Link) might generate the so-called observer's bias, caused by the individual behavior of the observers, by either random aspects or unobserved sampling characteristics. Overlooking this data dependence could lead to an invalid statistical inference (Roos et al., 2015; Costa et al., 2017). In order to remove this potential bias in the sampling process, the observer effect was added to the models as a random effect, since understanding the specific nature of the observers was not the object of this study.

2.4. Statistical models

Probability of occurrence of H. brasiliensis and H. unifasciatus was estimated using the iCAR Bayesian model, which considers a potential spatial autocorrelation in the data (Latimer et al., 2006) and different sources of uncertainties. We used a Gaussian intrinsic conditional autoregressive (iCAR) model (Besag, 1974) for the spatial autocorrelation between observers, assuming that the probability of presence of species at a given site depends on the probability of presence of the species at neighboring sites. The dataset of absences was randomly generated in the model as pseudoabsences, considering known species distribution. The number of pseudoabsences was exactly the same as the number of presences. Pseudoabsences and actual presences were then combined in a single spreadsheet to be used in the binomial model. Particularly, the random variable Y_i might be assumed as following a Bernoulli distribution, and thus, its value might be either 1 or 0 depending on whether the habitat is either suitable $(Y_i = 1)$ or not $(Y_i$ = 0), so that:

$Y_i \sim Bernoulli(\pi_i)$

 $logit(\pi_i) = X_i\beta + Z_i + W_{j(i)}$

where X_i is the matrix of covariates, β represents the vector of the regression coefficients, W represents the spatial random effect of observation i in grid cell j (i.e. matrix of neighbors), and a logit link is used to model the relationship between the probability of occurrence π_i , the covariates of interest and spatial effect.

Vague priors centered at zero with a higher variation of 100 were used for all parameters involved in the model, and a uniform distribution was used for the variance of spatial effect.

These models were adapted using the "hSDM" package (Vieilledent et al., 2014) in the statistical environment (R Core Team, 2019).

All resulting models obtained from the combination of variables mentioned and respective interactions were adjusted and compared using both backward and forward approaches, using the Deviance Information Criterion (DIC) (Spiegelhalter et al., 2002) and Watanabe–Akaike information criterion (WAIC) (Watanabe, 2010). Lower DIC and WAIC values represent a better fit between adjustment and parsimony.

In order to track the effect between the selected environmental

variables and predicted values, the "ggplot" (Wickham et al., 2019) package from R software was used.

Once relevant variables were estimated for the species, three types of predictions were performed for species occurrence area: 1) current distribution; 2) distribution for 2050; and 3) distribution for 2100. For future distributions, the RCP 2.6 and RCP 8.5 scenarios were used as predictor for 2050 and 2100, using only the relevant variables selected.

The basic code used in the modeling presented here is available at https://github.com/MgraziaPennino/Fisheries_Research_Guerra.

2.5. Model validation for occurrence

For each prediction, we validated the best model selected using an internal 10-fold cross-validation based on training and testing datasets selected randomly (which were created using a random selection of 75 % and 25 % of data, respectively) (Fielding and Bell, 1997), with the "PresenceAbsence" package (Freeman and Moisen, 2008) in R. The model's performance was evaluated using the area under the receiver-operating characteristic curve (AUC) (Fielding and Bell, 1997), the "True Skill Statistic" (TSS) (Allouche et al., 2006) and the root mean square error (RMSE). The RMSE represents the standard error of the differences between predicted values and observed values. The closer this statistic is to zero, the better the model's prediction (Potts and Elith, 2006).

3. Results

The occurrence of *H. brasiliensis* and *H. unifasciatus* seems to be mostly determined, in order of importance, by depth, sea surface temperature (SST), sea surface salinity (SSS), and ruggedness, as well as by the spatial component that represented the residual spatial autocorrelation. Net primary production (NPP) relevance was very low (probability lower than 20 %) for both species and was removed from the final model.

The results showed a positive correlation between depth (though non linear), SST, SSS, and the probability of occurrence of *H. brasiliensis* and *H. unifasciatus*, which means that there is higher probability of finding these species in shallower, warmer, and saltier waters. On the other hand, ruggedness had a negative relationship with occurrence, indicating that the probabilities of finding these species are also higher in unconsolidated substrates.

Particularly, higher probabilities of occurrence of H. brasiliensis were

found in a depths ranging between 0-50 m (mean = 2.01; CI 95 % = [1.62, 2.41]), SST between 25.5 and 28 °C (mean = 1.31; CI 95 % = [0.36, 2.36]), SSS between 32–35 PSU (mean = 0.53; CI 95 % = [0.12, 0.98]), and in unconsolidated substrates (mean = -0.14; CI 95 % = [-0.16, 0.44]) (Fig. 2a). On the other hand, although *H. unifasciatus* also has higher probability of occurrence in shallower waters (0–50 m, mean = 3.58; CI 95 % = [2.96, 4.29]), it has a slight difference in temperature range (SST between 21 and 30 °C, mean = 0.47; CI 95 % = [-0.28, 1.21]) and salinity (SSS between 30–34 PSU, mean = 0.01; CI 95 % = [-0.32, 0.34]), with preference also for unconsolidated substrates (mean = 0.67; CI 95 % = [0.33, 1.04]) (Fig. 2b).

A higher probability of occurrence of *H. brasiliensis* and *H. unifasciatus* in coastal waters was demonstrated throughout the American continent, especially in the region between northern Brazil and southern United States. However, the distribution of *H. brasiliensis* is restricted to the Atlantic, and it also has a probability of occurrence in southeastern Brazil (Fig. 3a). Similarly, *H. unifasciatus* is also likely to occur in northeastern and southeastern Brazil, although with a lower probability of occurrence, and it also occurs in the Pacific, between Ecuador and Mexico, especially in the Baja California region (Fig. 4a).

According to predicted distributions of occurrence, it is noticeable that both halfbeak species are expected to increase in the area, with higher probability of occurrence in 2050 and 2100 for both RCPs, compared to the current estimated distribution. For *H. brasiliensis*, the prediction for 2050 increases in nearly the entire Atlantic coast of the Americas and it is more significant in North America, Central America, and in the Venezuelan coast (Fig. 3b, d). For 2100, a higher increase in the predicted occurrence is located between Venezuela and Suriname and in the Brazilian coast (Fig. 3c, e). Similarly, the distribution of *H. unifasciatus* is expected to increase in nearly all the Americas, occupying both the Atlantic and a part of the Pacific by 2050 (Fig. 4b, d). This increase shall be even more significant by 2100 (Fig. 4c, e).

For model validation, reasonably high values for TSS were obtained for both species. In particular, a TSS of 0.67 and 0.64 were obtained for *H. brasiliensis* and for *H. unifasciatus*, respectively. Low values of RMSE were achieved for both species, with an RMSE of 0.94 for *H. brasiliensis* and with an RMSE of 0.98 for *H. unifasciatus*.

4. Discussion

As opposed to many other species, temperature rise tends to affect positively the future distribution of these two halfbeak species,



Fig. 2. Effect of the environmental variables on the predicted probability of occurrence of Hemiramphus brasiliensis (a) and Hyporhamphus unifasciatus (b).



Fig. 3. Current mean probability of occurrence of *Hemiramphus brasiliensis* (a), in 2050 (b, d), and 2100 (c, e) according to the RCP 2.6 and RCP 8.5 scenarios, respectively, which are based on expected global changes.



Fig. 4. Current mean probability of occurrence of *Hyporhamphus unifasciatus* (a), in 2050 (b, d) and 2100 (c, e), according to the RCP 2.6 and RCP 8.5 scenarios, respectively, which are based on expected global changes.

indicating that these small pelagic fishes, rather than migrating, are probably spreading along tropical coastal seas of the Americas. This prediction is corroborated even by the most pessimistic scenario (with the highest warmth) for 2100. Results suggest that H. brasiliensis and H. unifasciatus will probably have their distribution increased in the Americas as they have a wider tolerance range to temperature rise on the sea surface, and might thus remain within their preferred environmental conditions. However, both species do have defined tolerance limits, especially H. brasiliensis, which tends to collapse at surface temperatures above 27 °C. However, H. unifasciatus seems to tolerate slightly higher temperature, and is more capable of adjusting to the rapid changes in temperature expected to occur in a short period of time due to global warming.

Although several biotic and abiotic factors affect marine fish distribution (Dunstan and Bax, 2007; Feary et al., 2014), ocean warming seems to have a higher influence on geographic redistribution of species (Feary et al., 2014; Figueira and Booth, 2010; Nakamura et al., 2013; Verba et al., 2020). Due to changes in sea surface temperature, many fish species need to migrate to regions where temperature does not restrain their physiological needs, thus ensuring their survival (Cheung et al., 2013; Barange et al., 2014). As they are closer to their physiological limits of tolerance to temperature, some tropical species that inhabit warmer waters have a narrower range of thermal variations (Storch et al., 2014). These species are at a higher risk of extinction due to sea temperature rise, which consequently leads many other species to migrate in search of conditions that are more favorable to their development (Cheung et al., 2009). However, this does not seem to be the future of the halfbeak species studied here, owing to their high tolerance to higher temperatures.

On the other hand, temperature is one of the aspects that affect species occurrence, and other variables, such as salinity in oceans and coastal seas, are also important for the distribution of marine organisms, especially those that depend on specific salinity ranges to survive, e.g. seagrass, mollusks, crustaceans, and several fish species of ecological and economic importance (Attrill, 2002; Vega-Cendejas and Hernández de Santillana, 2004). As they are coastal species and use estuarine environments at some life phase to reproduce, find shelter, or feed (Jones, 1990; Noell, 2003; Sokolovsky and Sokolovskaya, 1999; de Vasconcelos Filho et al., 1984), halfbeaks have physiological adaptations to withstand salinity variations. Aside from salinization of coastal environments due to anthropogenic interference in the natural course of many rivers (Rapti-Caputo, 2010), IPCC projections estimate an increase in ocean salinity of 1.5 PSU by 2100 in the more pessimistic scenarios (IPCC, 2018). Even this maximum expected salinity does not seem to harm these species directly, as it might provide environments that are still suitable for their development, thus increasing their distribution in coastal waters of the Americas.

The distribution of many species also depends on factors such as depth (Costa et al., 2017; Dell'Apa et al., 2017), which may even be associated to water surface temperature, especially for species that move in the water column (Dulvy et al., 2008; Nye et al., 2009). Halfbeaks have a clear preference for shallower waters, and this is the major factor that affects their distribution. Previous studies have already indicated the preference for waters that are slightly distant from the coast, provided that their depth lay between 5-20 m, in the case of H. brasiliensis (McBride and Styer, 2002), while H. unifasciatus prefers coastal waters and protected areas inside reefs (Collette, 1978; Lieske and Myers, 1994; McBride and Styer, 2002). In this study, the higher probability of occurrence of these species lies exactly in shallow waters with depths up to 200 m. According to more pessimistic predictions, IPCC estimates a sea level rise of approximately 82 cm by 2100. Although this rise was not modeled in the present study, if this prediction is fulfilled, sea level rise might damage and even destroy coastal ecosystems, threatening not only halfbeaks, but all organisms that depend on coastal environments (Kibria et al., 2016a).

Fisheries Research 234 (2021) 105815

where they are found; the latter are used by the former for egg deposition, as part of their diet, and even as shelter against predators (Berkeley and Houde, 1978; Noell, 2003; Sokolovsky and Sokolovskaya, 1999; de Vasconcelos Filho et al., 1984). Their relationship with these plants might probably explain the preference of these fishes for shallower sites and unconsolidated substrates. These sites are generally preferred by the phanerogam Halodule wrightii, a plant that is abundant where arenite and coral reefs isolate areas with gentle and shallow waters, as well as in mouths of less polluted rivers (Laborel-Deguen, 1963). In rocky bottoms, i.e. consolidated substrates, these marine plants are less frequent (Laborel-Deguen, 1963), and this possibly explain the lower probability of finding halfbeaks at these sites, since they need a favorable environment to feed and to successfully breed, in order to ensure their maintenance and expansion.

Although the modeling performed in this study indicates a higher success of species analyzed in climate change scenarios, it is important to acknowledge that the results only represent partial scenarios that do not control for additional factors. In this specific case, the future of marine phanerogams, for instance, on which halfbeaks depend, is not considered. Marine phanerogams could undergo a decline if temperature rises beyond their thermal tolerances (Hyndes et al., 2016). They could also suffer increased herbivoria due to climate change (Vergés et al., 2014), which could cause increased abundance of some exotic and invasive herbivore fishes (Fodrie et al., 2010), which in turn consume seagrass at higher rates than those of native herbivores (Prado and Heck, 2011). In addition, the region over which the two halfbeak are expected to occupy may undergo local impacts, as these are coastal species. Coastal zones suffer from several anthropogenic pressures, especially unplanned growth and its corresponding consequences, and poor management of their natural resources (de Barros et al., 2013; Lopes et al., 2015; Haupt et al., 2017).

Local anthropogenic impacts may thus frustrate the expected geographic expansion of those species that could benefit from increased temperature or salinity, as is the case of halfbeaks. For instance, anecdotal information provided by experienced fishermen from the Brazilian northeastern coast suggests that the common halfbeak (H. unifasciatus) practically disappeared when meadows of H. wrightii decreased. These meadows started to be removed in large quantities and with no proper management to feed manatees (Trichechus manatus) in a conservation project for this species (Projeto Peixe Boi), during the 1980's and 1990's (personal communication). Thus, even in the occasional cases in which climate changes seem to be positive to marine organisms, it is still important to consider that these scenarios represent limited and simplified views of the future. In many cases, other anthropogenic interferences, such as those that occur at a local scale, might account for the reduction and even extinction of species and populations (Jackson et al., 2001; Giglio et al., 2017). There are also other biological interactions that are not modeled here that define the success and distribution of a species, such as interaction between prey species and between other chain links (Harley et al., 2006; Hsieh et al., 2008). Still, the results provided here help understand which environmental variables have higher influence on the occurrence of a species, and emphasize the role of temperature in determining species distribution in coastal seas. In this specific case, the hypothesis of ocean "tropicalization" is confirmed, and in this scenario, some species are likely to occupy new niches and potentially benefit from climate change (Vergés et al., 2014).

Although the spatial resolution of $1^\circ \ x \ 1^\circ$ is too general to capture subtle changes in coastal regions, such as the dynamic distribution of phanerogams spots (Sbrocco and Barber, 2013), this is the lowest scale where all variables, i.e., temperature, salinity and depth, can be modeled together. In the future, with new technologies and consequently finer scales of spatial resolutions, forecasts will likely be improved.

Halfbeaks have a connection with marine phanerogams in all regions

Finally, it is worth emphasizing that this is the first study to use a Bayesian approach to predict the distribution of these halfbeak species in the Americas, analyzing current predictions, and future predictions for 2050 and 2100, under two different scenarios. These predictions indicate that these fishes could benefit from climate change by expanding their distribution significantly in coastal waters of the Americas. However, the complexity of relationships that determine species occurrence is related to a wide array of environmental abiotic and biotic factors. Therefore, even if predictions indicate that some resident species may benefit from a scenario of ocean warming, there are still local environmental issues that shall play a decisive role in species distribution and occurrence. As we understand better the role of environmental variables and refine the models to incorporate local aspects, we shall be able to predict more accurately the interaction between the climate crisis and the use of resources.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Thiago Pereira Guerra: Investigation, Writing - original draft. Josiene Maria Falcão Fraga dos Santos: Writing - review & editing. Maria Grazia Pennino: Methodology, Formal analysis. Priscila Fabiana Macedo Lopes: Conceptualization, Supervision, Methodology, Writing - review & editing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors report no declarations of interest.

Acknowledgments

This work was carried out with the support of the Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel - Brazil (CAPES) -Financing Code 001. PFML thanks CNPq for a research productivity grant (301515 / 2019-0).

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary material related to this article can be found, in the online version, at doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2020.105815.

References

- Allouche, O., Tsoar, A., Kadmon, R., 2006. Assessing the accuracy of species distribution models: prevalence, kappa and the true skill statistic (TSS). J. Appl. Ecol. 43, 1223–1232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01214.x.
- Attrill, M.J., 2002. A testable linear model for diversity trends in estuaries. J. Anim. Ecol. 71, 262–269. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2656.2002.00593.x.
- Barange, M., Merino, G., Blanchard, J.L., et al., 2014. Impacts of climate change on marine ecosystem production in societies dependent on fisheries. Nat. Clim. Chang. 4, 211–216. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2119.
- Bates, B.C., Kundzewicz, Z.W., Wu, S., Palutikof, J.P., 2008. Climate Change and Water: IPCC Technical Paper VI.
- Berg, M.P., Toby Kiers, E., Driessen, G., et al., 2010. Adapt or disperse: understanding species persistence in a changing world. Glob. Change Biol. 16, 587–598. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02014.x.
- Berkeley, S.A., Houde, D., 1978. Biology of two exploited species of halfbeaks, Hemiramphus brasiliensis and H. balao from southeast Florida. Bul Mar Sci 28, 624–644.
- Besag, J., 1974. Spatial interaction and the statistical analysis of lattice systems. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. B 36, 192–225. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2517-6161.1974.tb00999. x.
- Bolívar, M., Rivillas-Ospina, G., Fuentes, W., et al., 2019. Anthropic impact assessment of coastal ecosystems in the municipality of Puerto Colombia, NE Colombia. J. Coast. Res. 92, 112. https://doi.org/10.2112/si92-013.1.
- Cheung, W.W.L., Lam, V.W.Y., Sarmiento, J.L., et al., 2009. Projecting global marine biodiversity impacts under climate change scenarios. Fish Fish. 10, 235–251. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2979.2008.00315.x.
- Cheung, W.W.L., Lam, V.W.Y., Sarmiento, J.L., et al., 2010. Large-scale redistribution of maximum fisheries catch potential in the global ocean under climate change. Glob. Change Biol. 16, 24–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01995.x.
- Cheung, W.W.L., Meeuwig, J.J., Feng, M., et al., 2012. Climate-change induced tropicalisation of marine communities in Western Australia. Mar. Freshw. Res. 63, 415–427. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF11205.
- Cheung, W.W.L., Sarmiento, J.L., Dunne, J., et al., 2013. Shrinking of fishes exacerbates impacts of global ocean changes on marine ecosystems. Nat. Clim. Change 3, 254–258. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1691.

Fisheries Research 234 (2021) 105815

Collette, B.B., 1978. Hemiranphidae. In: Fisher, W. (Ed.), FAO Species Identification Sheets for Fishery Purposes. FAO, Western Central Atlantic (Fishing area 31), Rome.

- Costa, T.L.A., Pennino, M.G., Mendes, L.F., 2017. Identifying ecological barriers in marine environment: the case study of Dasyatis marianae. Mar. Environ. Res. 125, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.12.005.
- de Barros, K.V.S., Rocha-Barreira C de, A., Magalhães, K.M., 2013. Ecology of Brazilian seagrasses: Is our current knowledge sufficient to make sound decisions about mitigating the effects of climate change? Iheringia - Ser Bot 68, 163–178.
- de Macedo, S.J., Flores-Montes M de, J., Lins, I.C., 2000. Gerenciamento Participativo de Estuários e manguezais. In: Barros, H.M., Eskinazi-Leça, E., Macedo, S.J., Lima, T. (Eds.), Características abióticas da área. Editora Universitária da UFPE, Recife, pp. 7–25.
- De Oliveira, M.R., Chellappa, S., 2014. Temporal dynamics of reproduction in Hemiramphus brasiliensis (Osteichthyes: Hemiramphidae). Transfus. Apher. Sci. 2014 https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/837151.
- de Vasconcelos Filho, A.L., de Guedes, D.S., Galiza, E.M.B., de Azevedo-Araújo, S., 1984. Estudo ecológico da região de Itamaracá, (Pernambuco-Brasil). XXVII. Hábitos alimentares de alguns peixes estuarinos. Trop. Oceanogr. 18.
- Dell'Apa, A., Pennino, M.G., Bonzek, C., 2017. Modeling the habitat distribution of spiny dogfish (squalus acanthias), by sex, in coastal waters of the Northeastern United States. Fish Bull. 115, 89–100. https://doi.org/10.7755/FB.115.1.8.
- Dulvy, N.K., Rogers, S.I., Jennings, S., et al., 2008. Climate change and deepening of the North Sea fish assemblage: a biotic indicator of warming seas. J. Appl. Ecol. 45, 1029–1039. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2008.01488.x.
- Dunn, D.C., Halpin, P.N., 2009. Rugosity-based regional modeling of hard-bottom habitat. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 377, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07839.
- Dunstan, P.K., Bax, N.J., 2007. How far can marine species go? Influence of population biology and larval movement on future range limits. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 344, 15–28. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps06940.
- Durbin, A.G., 1979. Food selection by plankton-feeding fishes. In: Clepper, H. (Ed.), Predator-Prey Systems in Fisheries Management. International Symposium on Predator-Prey Systems in Fish Communities and Their Role in Fisheries Management. Sports Fishing Institute, Washington, pp. 203–218.
- Elith, J., Leathwick, J.R., 2009. Species distribution models: ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 40, 677–697. https:// doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120159.
- Feary, D.A., Pratchett, M.S., Emslie M, J., et al., 2014. Latitudinal shifts in coral reef fishes: why some species do and others do not shift. Fish Fish. Oxf. (Oxf) 15, 593–615. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12036.
- Fernandes, C.E., 2011. Valor nutricional e perfil lipídico das espécies de peixes: cavala (Scomberomorus cavalla), agulha-branca (Hemiramphus brasiliensis), agulha-preta (Hyporhamphus unifasciatus) e sardinha-laje (Opisthonema oglinum). Universidade Federal de Pernambuco.
- Fielding, A.H., Bell, J.F., 1997. Fielding and Bell 1997, 24, pp. 38-49.
- Figueira, W.F., Booth, D.J., 2010. Increasing ocean temperatures allow tropical fishes to survive overwinter in temperate waters. Glob. Change Biol. 16, 506–516. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01934.x.
- Fischlin, A., Midgley, G.F., Price, J.T., et al., 2007. Ecosystems, their properties, goods, and services. In: Parry, M.L., Canziani, O.F., Palutikof, J.P. (Eds.), Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 2011–2272.

Fodrie, F.J., Heck, K.L., Powers, S.P., et al., 2010. Climate-related, decadal-scale assemblage changes of seagrass-associated fishes in the northern Gulf of Mexico. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 48–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.01889.x.

- Fonseca, V.P., Pennino, M.G., de Nóbrega, M.F., et al., 2017. Identifying fish diversity hot-spots in data-poor situations. Mar. Environ. Res. 129, 365–373. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marenvres.2017.06.017.
- Freeman, E.A., Moisen, G., 2008. PresenceAbsence: an R package for presence absence analysis. J. Stat. Softw. 23, 1–31. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v023.i11.
- Fulton, E.A., 2011. Interesting times: winners, losers, and system shifts under climate change around Australia. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 68, 1329–1342. https://doi.org/10.1093/ icesjms/fsr032.
- Giglio, V.J., Ternes, M.L.F., Mendes, T.C., et al., 2017. Anchoring damages to benthic organisms in a subtropical scuba dive hotspot. J. Coast Conserv 21, 311–316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11852-017-0507-7.

Halpern, B.S., Walbridge, S., Selkoe, K.A., et al., 2008.

- GlobalMapImpactMarineHalpernetal2008. Science (80-) 319, 948–952. Harley, C.D.G., 2011. Climate change, keystone predation, and biodiversity loss. Science
- (80-) 334, 1124–1127. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1210199.
- Harley, C.D.G., Hughes, A.R., Hultgren, K.M., et al., 2006. The impacts of climate change in coastal marine systems. Ecol. Lett. 9, 228–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00871.x.
- Haupt, P.W., Lombard, A.T., Goodman, P.S., Harris, J.M., 2017. Accounting for spatiotemporal dynamics in conservation planning for coastal fish in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Biol. Conserv. 209, 289–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biocon.2017.02.009.
- Hijimans, R.J., 2017. Raster: Geographic Data Analysis and Modeling. R Packag. Version 2.6-7. https://cran.r-project.org/package=raster.
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., 2005. Low coral cover in a high-CO 2 world. J Geophys Res C Ocean 110, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004JC002528.
- Hsieh, C.H., Reiss, C.S., Hewitt, R.P., Sugihara, G., 2008. Spatial analysis shows that fishing enhances the climatic sensitivity of marine fishes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 65, 947–961. https://doi.org/10.1139/F08-017.

Hughes, J.M., Stewart, J., 2006. Reproductive biology of three commercially important Hemiramphid species in south-eastern Australia. Environ. Biol. Fishes 75, 237–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-006-0023-3.

Hyndes, G.A., Heck, K.L., Vergés, A., et al., 2016. Accelerating tropicalization and the transformation of temperate seagrass meadows. Bioscience 66, 938–945. https://doi. org/10.1093/biosci/biw111.

IPCC, et al., 2018. Summary for policymakers. In: Masson-Delmotte, V., Zhai, P., Pörtner, H.O. (Eds.), Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C Above pre-Industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the Threat of Climate Change. World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, p 32.

Jackson, J.B.C., Kirby, M.X., Berger, W.H., et al., 2001. Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. Science (80-) 293, 629–637. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1059199.

Jones, G.K., 1990. Growth and mortality in a lightly fished population of garfish (Hyporhamphus malanochir), in Baird Bay, south Australia. Trans. R. Soc. S. Aust. 114, 37–45.

Kibria, G., Haroon, A.K.Y., Nugegoda, D., 2013. Climate Change and Agricultural Food Production: Impacts, Vulnerabilities and Remedies, p. 300. https://doi.org/ 10.13140/2.1.3245.4081

Kibria, G., Haroon, Y., Nugegoda, D., 2016a. Climate Change & Water Security – A Book Summary, p. 314. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.1848.1528/2.

Kibria, G., Hossain, M.M., Mallick, D., et al., 2016b. Trace/heavy metal pollution monitoring in estuary and coastal area of Bay of Bengal, Bangladesh and implicated impacts. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 105, 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2016.02.021.

Kinas, P.G., Andrade, H.A., 2014. Introdução à Análise Bayesiana (com R). Buqui Livros Digitais. Porto Alegre.

Laborel-Deguen, F., 1963. Nota preliminar sobre a ecologia das pradarias das fanerógamas marinhas nas costas dos Estados de Pernambuco e da Paraíba. Trab do Inst Biol Marítima e Oceanogr 3/4, 39–50.

Lalli, C., Parsons, T.R., 1997. Biological Oceanography: An Introduction. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford.

Last, P.R., White, W.T., Gledhill, D.C., et al., 2011. Long-term shifts in abundance and distribution of a temperate fish fauna: a response to climate change and fishing practices. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 20, 58–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00575.x.

Latimer, A.M., Wu, S., Gelfand, A.E., Silander, J.A., 2006. Building statistical models to analyze species distributions. Ecol. Appl. 16, 33–50. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-0609.

Lessa, R., Nóbrega, M., 2000. Guia de Identificação de Peixes Marinhos da Região Nordeste. Programa Reviz - SCORE- NE, p. 138.

Lieske, E., Myers, R., 1994. Pocket Guide. Coral Reef Fish. Indo-pacific & Caribbean Including Red Sea. Haper Collins Publishers.

Lopes, P.F.M., Pacheco, S., Clauzet, M., et al., 2015. Fisheries, tourism, and marine protected areas: conflicting or synergistic interactions? Ecosyst. Serv. 16, 333–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.12.003.

Maravelias, C.D., 1999. Habitat selection and clustering of a pelagic fish: effects of topography and bathymetry on species dynamics. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56, 437–450. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-56-3-437.

Mcbride, R., Foushee, L., Mahmoudi, B., 1996. Florida's halfbeak, Hemiramphus spp., bait fishery. Mar. Fish. Rev. 58, 29–38.

McBride, R.S., Styer, J.R., 2002. Species composition, catch rates, and size structure of fishes captured in the south Florida lampara net fishery. Mar. Fish. Rev. 64, 21–27.

Nakamura, Y., Feary, D.A., Kanda, M., Yamaoka, K., 2013. Tropical fishes dominate temperate reef fish communities within western Japan. PLoS One 8, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0081107.

Nelson, J.A., 2006. Fishes of the world, 4. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.

Noell, C.J., 2003. Larval development of the southern sea garfish (Hyporhamphus melanochir) and the river garfish (H. regularis) (Beloniformes: Hemiramphidae) from South Australian waters. Fish Bull. 101, 368–376.

Nye, J.A., Link, J.S., Hare, J.A., Overholtz, W.J., 2009. Changing spatial distribution of fish stocks in relation to climate and population size on the Northeast United States continental shelf. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 393, 111–129. https://doi.org/10.3354/ meps08220.

Online, R., Pecl, G., Araujo, M.B., et al., 2017. Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: impacts on ecosystems and human well-being Publication Details. Science (80-) 355, 1–9.

Ouyang, X., Lee, S.Y., Connolly, R.M., Kainz, M.J., 2018. Spatially-explicit valuation of coastal wetlands for cyclone mitigation in Australia and China. Sci. Rep. 8, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21217-z. Pennino, M.G., Guijarro-García, E., Vilela, R., et al., 2019. Modeling the distribution of thorny skate (Amblyraja radiata) in the Southern Grand Banks (Newfoundland, Canada). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 65, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1139/f07-908.

Pereira, P.H.C., Ferreira, B.P., Rezende, S.M., 2010. Community structure of the ichthyofauna associated with seagrass beds (Halodule wrightii) in Formoso River estuary - Pernambuco, Brazil. An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 82, 617–628. https://doi.org/ 10.1590/S0001-37652010000300009.

Perry, R.I., 2011. Potential impacts of climate change on marine wild capture fisheries: an update. J. Agric. Sci. 149, 63–75. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859610000961.Pires, I., 1997. De isca a caviar: potencial econômico dos peixes-voadores do nordeste ainda é pouco explorado. Ciência Hoje 22, 67–68.

Potts, J.M., Elith, J., 2006. Comparing Species Abundance Models, 9, pp. 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.05.025.

Prado, P., Heck, K.L., 2011. Seagrass selection by omnivorous and herbivorous consumers: determining factors. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 429, 45–55. https://doi.org/ 10.3354/meps09076.

R Core Team, 2019. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation form Statistical Computing.

Rapti-Caputo, D., 2010. Influence of climatic changes and human activities on the salinization process of coastal aquifer systems. Ital. J. Agron. 5, 67–79. https://doi. org/10.4081/ija.2010.s3.67.

Roos, N.C., Carvalho, A.R., Lopes, P.F.M., Pennino, M.G., 2015. Modeling sensitive parrotfish (Labridae: Scarini) habitats along the Brazilian coast. Mar. Environ. Res. 110, 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2015.08.005.

Sbrocco, E.J., Barber, P.H., 2013. MARSPEC: ocean climate layers for marine spatial ecology. Ecology 94. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-1358.1, 979–979.

Seabra, R., Wethey, D.S., Santos, A.M., Lima, F.P., 2015. Understanding complex biogeographic responses to climate change. Sci. Rep. 5, 3–8. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep12930.

Sinervo, B., Méndez-de-la-Cruz, F., Miles, D.B., et al., 2010. Erosion of lizard diversity by climate change and altered thermal niches. Science (80-) 328, 894–899. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1184695.

Sokolovsky, A.S., Sokolovskaya, T.G., 1999. Some aspects of biology of the japanese halfbeak Hyporhamphus sajori from Peter the Great Bay, Sea of Japan. J. Mar. Biol. 25, 426–430.

Spiegelhalter, D.J., Best, N.G., Carlin, B.P., van der Linde, A., 2002. Bayesian measures of model complexity and fit (with discussion). J. R. Stat. Soc. 64, 583–639.

Storch, D., Menzel, L., Frickenhaus, S., Pörtner, H.O., 2014. Climate sensitivity across marine domains of life: limits to evolutionary adaptation shape species interactions. Glob. Change Biol. 20, 3059–3067. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12645.

Tian, Y., Kidokoro, H., Watanabe, T., et al., 2012. Response of yellowtail, Seriola quinqueradiata, a key large predatory fish in the Japan Sea, to sea water temperature over the last century and potential effects of global warming. J. Mar. Syst. 91, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2011.09.002.

Vasconcelos Filho, A.L., Neumann-Leitão, S., Eskinazi-Leça, E., Porto-Neto, F.F., 2009. Hábitos alimentares de consumidores primários da ictiofauna do sistema estuarino de Itamaracá (Pernambuco - Brasil). Rev. Bras. Eng. Pesca 4, 21–31.

Vega-Cendejas, M.E., Hernández De Santillana, M., 2004. Fish community structure and dynamics in a coastal hypersaline lagoon: Rio Lagartos, Yucatan, Mexico. Estuar. Coast. Shelf. Sci. 60, 285–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2004.01.005.

Verba, J.T., Pennino, M.G., Coll, M., Lopes, P.F.M., 2020. Assessing drivers of tropical and subtropical marine fish collapses of Brazilian Exclusive Economic Zone. Sci. Total Environ. 702, 134940. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134940.

Total Environ. 702, 134940. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134940. Vergés, A., Steinberg, P.D., Hay, M.E., et al., 2014. Shifts climate-mediated changes in herbivory and community phase the tropicalization of temperate marine ecosystems: subject collections the tropicalization of temperate marine ecosystems: climatemediated changes in herbivory and community phase shifts. Proc. R. Soc. B 281, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.0846.

Vieilledent, G., Merow, C., Guélat, J., et al., 2014. hSDM CRAN Release v1.4 for Hierarchical Bayesian Species Distribution Models. https://doi.org/10.5281/ ZENODO.48470.

Watanabe, S., 2010. Asymptotic Equivalence of Bayes Cross Validation and Widely Applicable Information Criterion in Singular Learning Theory, 11, pp. 3571–3594.

Wernberg, T., Russell, B.D., Moore, P.J., et al., 2011. Impacts of climate change in a global hotspot for temperate marine biodiversity and ocean warming. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 400, 7–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2011.02.021.

Wickham, H., Chang, W., Henry, L., Lin Pedersen, T., Takahashi, K., Wilke, C., Woo, K., Yutani, H., 2019. ggplot2 package- (2019) Create Elegant Data Visualizations Using the Grammar of Graphics. ggplot2. https://cran.r-project.org/package=ggplot2.

Zuur, A.F., Ieno, E.N., Elphick, C.S., 2010. A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. Methods Ecol. Evol. 1, 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.2041-210X.2009.00001.x.